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About Rubicor

The RUBICOR Group is one of the largest providers of recruitment and human
resource services in Australia, New Zealand and Asia. Consisting of 6 specialist
recruitment and HR solutions businesses, RUBICOR employs over 200 team
members across 18 offices delivering complete staffing, payroll, consulting
and managed services solutions across a diverse range of industry sectors
and geographies.
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Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer’s Review
I am pleased to report on a transformational year for Rubicor Group. Following a corporate
restructure in August 2016 that involved debt forgiveness and strengthened the group’s balance
sheet, we made significant changes to position Rubicor for profitable growth.

Financial performance
The company’s statutory revenue for the year, including a
number of one-off items resulting from the restructure, was
$219.7 million, 6.4% above the previous year. Underlying
revenue, however, was 3.1% lower at $199.8 million due to
distractions caused by the restructure and the sale of the
group’s 50.1% shareholding in Ensure Group in April 2017.
Statutory EBITDA increased to $14.6 million, compared
with a loss of $3.8 million the previous year, and
underlying EBITDA, at $2.7 million (FY2016: $3.4 million),
was broadly in line with guidance. There was an
underlying loss of $0.1 million after tax.
Cash at 30 June 2017 was $2.0 million (30 June 2016:
$10.5 million), following cash outflow of $12.3 million
(FY2016: $7.3 million inflow) caused by the balance sheet
restructure and timing issues.
Net assets at 30 June 2017 were $9.0 million, compared
to a deficit of $8.8 million a year earlier. This was a key
milestone for Rubicor, and the group will continue to
manage its capital prudently to reduce debt through
retained earnings and increasing profitability.

New branding to drive growth
Until recently, Rubicor operated through 16 separate
brands, with little or no recognition of their being part
of a more substantial group. This limited their market
presence, reduced their competitiveness and resulted in
an inefficient use of resources.
In July 2017, we consolidated several of our operations
under four group brands that identify their target
markets: Rubicor Workforce, Rubicor Government,
Rubicor Professional and Rubicor Technical. xpand and
Gaulter Russel Numero retained their existing brands.
This simplified structure will enable Rubicor businesses to
benefit from the group’s corporate strength and growing
reputation and to gain a greater share of business from
existing and new clients.

been on reducing costs, but in FY2018 we plan to invest in
technology to streamline labour‑intensive processes and
strengthen interaction with candidates.
We are actively assessing opportunities to use the group’s
improved technology infrastructure to generate additional
revenue streams. During the first half of FY2018, we
expect to announce new partnerships and technology
platforms to increase our competitiveness as employers’
and employees’ ‘human resource partner of choice’.

Increasing productivity
With many of Rubicor’s structural issues resolved, we
are focusing now on lifting productivity. Current sales
per head are materially below industry benchmarks
due to a disjointed and combative culture in the past
and inconsistent remuneration policies. Productivity has
increased in recent months, and further improvements
are expected in FY2018 and FY2019, helped by new
technology, training and recruitment processes.

Looking ahead
Rubicor is one of Australasia’s largest recruitment groups,
and our restructure has positioned us to take advantage
of significant growth opportunities.
We now have a sound balance sheet, new branding
to enhance our market presence and a reinvigorated
business development program. We are continuing to
adopt best industry practices. While targeting to achieve
modest debt gearing, we plan to develop growth
opportunities and additional income streams, either
organically or through selected acquisitions that are
operating cash flow per share accretive.
To help drive growth and increase productivity, we have
made two key management appointments since the
beginning of the 2018 financial year. Sharad Loomba,
General Counsel and Company Secretary since 2007,
has become Chief Operating Officer; and Jay Adcock,
Group Financial Controller, has been appointed Chief
Financial Officer.

The new branding followed the creation of a group
function to coordinate national and industry tendering,
sales and marketing. This has already resulted in Rubicor’s
securing a number of new clients during the second
half of FY2017, including AXA Life Hong Kong, Bank of
America Merrill Lynch, Bega Cheese, Accenture and
Dropbox. In addition, during the year we extended
several key contracts and were added to a number of
new supplier panels. We are now greater exposed to
growing clients in technology. Asia and lesser to traditional
industrial services.

DAVID HUTCHISON
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Investment in new technology

29th September 2017

We have increased investment in infrastructure technology
substantially after years of neglect. The focus so far has
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I would like to thank all our clients, employees and
shareholders for their continuing support. Based on
Rubicor’s results in the second half of FY2017, we expect
our revenue to grow in the coming year, and I remain
confident of the group’s long-term growth potential.

Directors’ Report
The past year has seen much achieved within the Rubicor
Group. I am pleased to present the Group’s Financial Results
for the year ended 30 June 2017.

Group performance
In light of the major restructuring that has been undertaken in
FY2017, the performance of Rubicor’s brands have been in
line with expectations.
Revenue decreased 3.1 per cent in FY2017 to
$199.8 million1,2,3 (FY2016: $206.2 million4), while underlying
gross profit decreased 14.1 per cent to $32.8 million1,2
(FY2016: $38.2 million4).
The company reported a statutory net profit after tax
(attributable to equity holders) of $15.6 million, and an
underlying net loss after tax of $0.1 million1,5 (FY2016:
$0.4 million1,4,5 loss).
Underlying gross profit and underlying net loss were key
metrics for Rubicor Group in FY2017 but are not calculated in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) and have not been reviewed by Rubicor’s Auditor.
There was a cash outflow from operations of $12.3 million,
compared with a cash inflow of $7.3 million4 in FY2016.
The reduction in cash at end of period between FY2017
compared to FY2016 was due to the cost of realising the
gain related to the deed of company arrangement and
general timing issues associated with a company with large
revenue. Employee benefits expense was down 11% to
$23.0m (FY2016: $25.9m). Head count has been reduced
and a more rigorous and disciplined approach to leave
management has been implemented which has resulted in a
reduction of employee benefit liabilities.
The statutory revenue results include a number of one off
income items that have positively affected the balance
sheet and reflect Rubicor’s goals of obtaining capital stability.
These one offs include gains on bargain purchases as a
result of two small acquisitions, where Rubicor acquired the
customer contracts for little consideration, and the gain from
debt forgiveness associated with the deed of company
arrangement that took place in the first half of the year. A small
drop in revenue was experienced mostly due to the disruption
associated with the deed of company arrangement and the
sale of the Ensure Recruitment business.
Underlying EBITDA was broadly in line with guidance given
during the year, taking into account the points noted above.
Moving forward Rubicor is committed to providing statutory
EBITDA guidance rather than subjective underlying statements
which have been used by previous management.

Growth opportunities and outlook

committed towards continuing actions to improve this
throughout FY2018 and FY2019. To ensure performance is
comparable or better than industry peers in the coming
years Rubicor intends to invest in productivity initiatives
which will include technology, training and improved
recruitment practices.
In FY2017 there has been a meaningful investment in
infrastructure centred around cost out initiatives which can be
seen in the underlying operating expenses. For FY2018 Rubicor
expects some spend on technology, however it will have a
focus on building technology that streamlines existing labour
intensive processes and creates greater knowledge and
interaction with our candidates.
With the new development of technology, Rubicor is actively
assessing opportunities to utilise its improved technology
infrastructure to generate additional revenue streams.
Rubicor is well advanced in its thinking and planning, and
expects to be able to announce new partnerships and
technology platforms in the first half of FY2018. We expect
that these partnerships will support Rubicor’s goal of increasing
competitiveness and being the human resource partner of
choice to employers and employees. We note that some of
these initiatives will be experimental in nature and may be
eligible for research and development grants.
Rubicor continues to focus on adopting the best in industry
practices, accelerating and focussing on developing growth
opportunities, additional income streams from existing
intangible assets and where appropriate, undertake selective
acquisition opportunities which add share accretive operating
cash flow while maintaining modest debt gearing. To improve
communication and engagement with investors Rubicor will
be seeking to appoint investor relations advisors alongside
extending the depth of the Board now that financial stability
has been achieved.
1

Excludes gain on debt forgiveness of $14.7m (2016: nil).

2

Excludes gain from bargain purchase of $4.4m (2016: nil).

3

Excludes proceeds from sale of business of $0.7m (2016: nil).

4

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives
as a result of a change in accounting policy.

5

Excludes restructuring costs of $2.8m: -$0.5m onerous lease provision
write-back, $0.7m redundancy and termination expense, and $0.6m
personnel and other costs for new system (2016: $4.2m: $0.5m onerous
lease provision, $1.0m redundancy and termination expense, $0.3m
personnel and other costs for new system; and transaction costs
of $0.4m).

6

Excludes impairment expense of $1.2m (2016: nil).

Your Directors present their annual financial report on the
Company and its controlled entities for the financial year
ended 30 June 2017. In order to comply with the provisions
of the Corporations Act 2001, the Directors report as follows:

Rubicor’s focus is on lifting the productivity of the organisation
as a whole. Current sales per head productivity is materially
below industry benchmarks which can be explained through
the disjointed and previous combative organisational
culture, and inconsistent and non-aligned short and long
term remuneration policies. Improvements in productivity
have been seen in the last half and initial months of FY2018,
however more is needed with Rubicor management

RUBICOR ANNUAL REPORT 2017 | 3

Directors’ Report
1. General information
(a) Directors
The names of the Directors in office at any time during, or
since the end of the year are:

Names

Appointed		

David Hutchison

22 June 2015		

Sharad Loomba

20 August 2015		

Angus Mason

20 August 2015		

(b) Directors’ information
David Hutchison
Chief Executive Officer & Executive Chairman

Angus Mason
Non-executive Director
Angus Mason is a director of Cashel, the largest shareholder
of Rubicor. He has extensive experience in financing and
operations in the labour hire and recruitment sectors, having
been a director and shareholder of Westaff (Australia) Pty Ltd
and Westaff NZ Ltd.
Angus is the CEO of Cashel House a multi family office with
operations in Australia and Singapore. His specialisation within
Cashel is corporate finance, debt advisory and funding of
distressed businesses.

Interests in shares and options:
51,101,724 shares in Rubicor Group Limited

David is an ACA with an MBA from London Business School and
Harvard. He spent three years with Arthur Anderson and seven
years as a Strategy and Corporate Finance Consultant with
McKinsey & Co. David was the Group Head of Strategy with
Standard Chartered Bank and an MD with Deutsche Bank’s
Investment Banking Division. David has significant experience
within the Australian and global recruitment industry having
worked on strategic and corporate finance assignments
with companies including Manpower, Kelly Services, Adecco
and Fircroft.

Nil options in Rubicor Group Limited

Interests in shares and options:

(d) Company secretary

9,738,734 shares in Rubicor Group Limited
Nil options in Rubicor Group Limited

Sharad Loomba
Chief Operating Officer & Executive Director
Sharad Loomba is a corporate lawyer with over 20 years’
experience. He graduated with a BCom LLB from UNSW in
1992, and has been admitted as a solicitor in NSW since 1992.
Sharad is Chief Operating Officer and Executive Director,
General Counsel and Company Secretary of Rubicor Group
Limited, and is also Director and Company Secretary of each
of its subsidiaries throughout Australia, New Zealand and South
East Asia. He has served on Rubicor Group Limited’s Executive
Committee for over ten years.
Sharad was appointed Chief Operating Officer effective
1 July 2017. As COO Sharad oversees Rubicor Group Limited’s
operations, including administrative services such as HR, IT,
insurance, media and communications, property leasing and
risk and compliance.

(c) Principal activities
The principal activity of the Group during the financial year was
the provision of contracting and recruitment services over a
diversity of industry sectors throughout Australia, New Zealand,
Hong Kong, Singapore and United Kingdom.
There have been no significant changes in the nature of the
Group’s principal activities during the financial year.

Sharad Loomba is Executive Director, General Counsel and
Company Secretary of the Company and a Director of each
of its controlled entities throughout Australia, New Zealand,
United Kingdom and South East Asia.
Nathan Bartrop was appointed joint Company Secretary on
15 July 2016 and assists Sharad Loomba with all Corporate
Governance and Company Secretarial matters. Nathan is
both a qualified lawyer and Chartered Company Secretary.
Nathan graduated in 2005 with a BCom LLB from the University
of Western Australia. Nathan has prior experience as a
Company Secretary with ASX listed, dual listed and unlisted
entities. Nathan has been involved in the listing of a number
of entities on ASX, as well as advising other listed entities in
relation to ASX listing rules.
He also has prior experience at ASX, where he was a Senior
Listings Compliance Adviser in Sydney and Perth, responsible
for advising and monitoring listed entities’ compliance with the
ASX Listing Rules.
Nathan is a Fellow of Governance Institute of Australia, in
addition to being a member of the NSW State Council and the
Corporate and Legal Issues Committee.

Sharad advises the Chairman and CEO in connection with
legal and corporate governance matters, and is responsible
for legal and secretarial services across the group. He brings
considerable experience and judgment to corporate decision
making, having had a diversity of experience in private legal
practice, both locally and internationally before joining the
Rubicor Group. Moreover, Sharad has a comprehensive
understanding of the governance obligations of a modern
Australian/New Zealand director. He is a Fellow of the Australian
Institute of Company Directors.

David Hutchison

14

14

Sharad Loomba

14

14

Interests in shares and options:

Angus Mason

14

14

1,000,000 shares in Rubicor Group Limited
Nil options in Rubicor Group Limited
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(e) Directors’ meetings
Board
Held

Attended

2. Business review
(a) Operating results
The consolidated profit of the Group attributable to equity
holders after providing for income tax amounted to
$15.6 million (2016: Loss of $7.7 million).

(b) Review of operations
Information on the operations and financial position of the
Group and its business strategies and prospects is set out in the
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer’s Review.

(c) Significant changes in state of affairs

The Board of Directors has considered the position and
is satisfied that the provision of the non-audit services is
compatible with the general standard of independence for
auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The Directors
are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services by the
auditor, as set out in Note 4 to the financial statements did not
compromise the auditor independence requirements of the
Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons:
•

all non-audit services have been reviewed by the Board to
ensure they do not impact the impartiality and objectivity
of the auditor; and

•

none of the services undermine the general principles
relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 110
‘Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants’.

There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the
Group during the financial year.

(c) Auditor’s independence declaration

(d) Future developments
Likely developments in the operations of the Group in future
financial years and the expected results of those operations
are referred to generally in the Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer’s Review.

A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required
under section 307c of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on
page 12.

(e) Events subsequent to balance date

In respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2017, no
ordinary dividends have been paid by the Company
(2016: nil).

There have not been any transactions or events of a material
and unusual nature between the end of the reporting period
and the date of this report, in the opinion of the Directors of the
Group, to affect significantly the operations of the Group, the
results of those operations, or state of affairs of the Group in
future periods.

(a) Options
During and since the end of the financial year nil share options
were granted by the Company.
Unissued shares of Rubicor Group Limited under option at the
date of this report are as follows:

April 20081

Expiry
date

April 2018

Issue price
of shares

0.37

Number
under
option

33,101

No option holder has any right under the options to participate
in any other share issue of the Company or any other entity.
A total of 33,101 options were capable of being exercised
during the year ended 30 June 2017.
¹

No dividends were paid during the financial year on
redeemable preference shares (2016: nil). These dividends are
classified as part of vendor liabilities. Refer to Note 34(b).

(e) Environmental issues

3. Other information

Date options
granted

(d) Dividends

Options have a five-year vesting period and expire five years after they
become exercisable. No options have been exercised post year end.

(b) Non-audit services
The Company may decide to employ the auditor on
assignments additional to their statutory audit duties where the
auditor’s expertise and experience with the Company and/or
the Group are important.
Details of the amounts paid to the auditor (Pitcher Partners)
for audit and non-audit services provided during the year are
outlined in Note 4 to the financial statements.

The Group’s operations are not regulated by any significant
environmental regulation under a law of the Commonwealth
or of a state or territory.

(f)

Indemnifying officers or auditors

Insurance of officers
During the financial year, Rubicor Group Limited paid a
premium to insure the Directors and secretaries of the
Company and its Australian, New Zealand, Singapore and
United Kingdom based controlled entities.
The liabilities insured are legal costs that may be incurred in
defending civil or criminal proceedings that may be brought
against the officers in their capacity as officers of entities in the
Group, and any other payments arising from liabilities incurred
by the officers in connection with such proceedings. This does
not include such liabilities that arise from conduct involving a
wilful breach of duty by the officers or the improper use by the
officers of their position or of information to gain advantage
for themselves or someone else or to cause detriment to the
Company. It is not possible to apportion the premium between
amounts relating to the insurance against legal costs and
those relating to other liabilities.
The Company has not otherwise, during or since the end
of the financial year, except to the extent permitted by law,
indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of the
Company or of any related body corporate against a liability
incurred as such an officer or auditor.
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Directors’ Report
3. Other information (continued)
(g) Proceedings on behalf of the Company

(f) Executive service agreements

No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of
the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on
behalf of the Company, or to intervene in any proceedings
to which the Company is a party, for the purpose of taking
responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or part of
those proceedings.

(g) Share-based compensation
(h) Options
(i) Equity instrument disclosures relating to key
management personnel

No proceedings have been brought or intervened in on behalf
of the Company with leave of the Court under section 237 of
the Corporations Act 2001.

(a) Key management personnel – Directors

(h) Rounding off of amounts

•

David Hutchison (Chief Executive Officer &
Executive Chairman)

•

Angus Mason

•

Sharad Loomba (Chief Operating Officer &
Executive Director)

The company is a company of the kind referred to in ASIC
Corporations (Rounding in Financials/Directors’ Reports)
Instrument 2016/191,dated 24 March 2016, and in
accordance with that Corporations Instrument amounts in the
directors’ report and the financial statements are rounded off
to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise indicated.

The following persons acted as Directors of the Company
during the financial year:

(b) Relationship between the remuneration policy
and Company performance

4. Remuneration report – audited

Cash bonuses are generally linked to the annual profit
levels of the Group, or achievement of other agreed key
performance indicators.

The remuneration report is set out in the following
main headings:

Executive Directors and other key management personnel are
aligned with the long-term Company performance via the
participation through the Senior Executive Share Plan Scheme
and the Key Employee Share Option Plan.

(a) Key management personnel
(b) Relationship between the remuneration policy and
Company performance
(c) Principles used to determine the nature and amount
of remuneration

The table below sets out summary information about the
Group’s earnings and movements in shareholder wealth for the
five years to 30 June 2017:

(d) Non-executive Director remuneration
(e) Details of remuneration

30 June 2017
$000

Revenue

30 June 2016
Restated* 30 June 2015 30 June 2014 30 June 2013
$000
$000
$000
$000

199,803

206,216

204,314

198,028

237,695

Net profit/(loss) before tax

10,759

(6,837)

(5,090)

86,868

(23,956)

Net profit/(loss) after tax

15,716

(7,190)

(4,142)

84,781

(23,940)

30 June 2017 30 June 2016 30 June 2015 30 June 2014 30 June 2013
cents
cents
cents
cents
cents

Share price at end of year

4.8

4.5

4.2

7.5

0.4

Interim dividend

–

–

–

–

–

Final dividend

–

–

–

–

–

Basic earnings/(loss) per share

6.3

(4.7)

(3.8)

77.0

(22.3)

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share

6.3

(4.7)

(3.8)

77.0

(22.3)

*

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy
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4. Remuneration report – audited (continued)
(c) Principles used to determine the nature and
amount of remuneration
The objective of the Company’s executive reward framework
is to ensure that reward for performance is competitive and
appropriate for the results delivered. The framework seeks
to align executive reward with achievement of strategic
objectives and the creation of value for shareholders.
The Board seeks to ensure that executive reward satisfies the
following key criteria for good reward governance practices:
•

Competitiveness and reasonableness

•

Acceptability to shareholders

•

Performance linkage/alignment of
executive compensation

•

Transparency

•

Capital management

Alignment of shareholders’ interest
•

•

Focuses on sustained growth in shareholder wealth,
consisting of dividends and growth in share price, and
delivering constant return on assets as well as focusing the
executive on key non-financial drivers of value
Attracts and retains high-calibre executives

Alignment to program participants’ interests
•

Rewards capability and experience

•

Provides a clear structure for earning rewards

•

Provides recognition for contribution to the business

The framework provides a mix of fixed and variable pay, and a
blend of short and long-term incentives.
The Board is responsible for remuneration and incentive
policies and practices and specific recommendations on
remuneration packages and other terms of employment
for executives and Directors. The Corporate Governance
Statement provides further information on the role of the Board
for remuneration matters.

Executive pay
The executive pay and reward framework has
three components:
•

Base pay and benefits, including superannuation

•

Short-term performance incentives

•

Long-term incentives provided through participation in the
Employee Share Option Plan.

The combination of these comprises the executive’s
total remuneration.

Base pay
Base pay is determined by reference to appropriate
benchmark information, taking into account an individual’s
responsibilities, performance, qualifications and experience,
the broad objective being to pitch fixed remuneration at
median market levels.
Base pay is structured as a package, which may be delivered
as a mix of cash and other benefits, such as the provision
of a motor vehicle, at the executive’s discretion. There
are no guaranteed base pay increases in any executives’
employment contracts.

Short-term incentives
David Hutchison and Sharad Loomba both received $50,000
cash bonuses during the year in line with their employment
agreements. The Board determined there were no further
short‑term incentives awarded for the year ended 30 June
2017 (2016: nil).

Long-term incentives
The Board determined there were no grants under the
long‑term incentive plan for the year ended 30 June 2017
(2016: nil).

(d) Non-executive Director remuneration
Non-executive Directors’ fees are reviewed annually and are
determined by the Board. In making its recommendations,
the Board takes into account fees paid to other non-executive
Directors of comparable companies and where necessary will
seek external advice.
In accordance with the Company’s Constitution,
Non‑Executive Directors are entitled to receive fees not
exceeding $600,000 per annum in aggregate to be
divided among the Non-Executive Directors as they may
determine. Fees for Non-Executive Directors are not linked
to performance. The sole Non-Executive Director, Mr Angus
Mason received fees of $36,000 during the year. Subsequent
to year end, the fees payable to non-executive directors were
increased to $60,000 per annum.
The Company does not operate equity plans for nonexecutive Directors.
Non-executive Directors are entitled to statutory
superannuation. Amounts paid for statutory superannuation
are included as part of the Directors’ fees. There are no other
schemes for retirement benefits for non-executive Directors.
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Directors’ Report
4. Remuneration report – audited (continued)
(e) Details of remuneration
Details of remuneration of the Directors and other key management personnel of Rubicor group Limited are set out in the tables
below. The key management personnel of Rubicor Group Limited include the Directors as per page 6 and the following executives
who have authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling activities of the Group.

2017

Short-term employee benefits

Name

Cash
salary
and fees
$

Cash
bonus
$

Post-employment
benefits

Long-term Shareemployee based
benefit payment

TermLong
Superination
service
annuation payments leave
$
$
$

Other
$

Shares
and
Options
$

Total
$

Total performance
related
%

Non-executive Directors
36,000

–

–

–

–

–

–

36,000

–

David Hutchison2

340,000

50,000

–

–

–

–

–

390,000

–

Sharad Loomba3

270,833

50,000

–

19,616

–

–

–

340,449

–

Angus Mason1
Executive Directors

Other key management personnel
Christopher White4
Total key
management
personnel
compensation

220,000

–

–

–

–

–

–

220,000

–

866,833

100,000

–

19,616

–

–

–

986,449

–

1

Angus Mason appointed 20 August 2015.

2

David Hutchison appointed Chief Executive Officer and Director 22 June 2015 and Executive Chairman 20 August 2015.

3

Sharad Loomba appointed as Director 20 August 2015 and appointed Chief Operating Officer effective 1 July 2017.

4

Christopher White was appointed as Chief Financial Officer on 1 March 2016. The employment agreement between Christopher White and
Rubicor Group Limited ceased on 30 June 2017.
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4. Remuneration report – audited (continued)
(e) Details of remuneration (continued)

2016

Short-term employee benefits

Name

Cash
salary
and fees
$

Cash
bonus
$

Post-employment
benefits

Long-term Shareemployee based
benefit payment

TermLong
Superination
service
annuation payments leave
$
$
$

Other
$

Shares
and
Options
$

Total
$

Total performance
related
%

Non-executive Directors
11,415

–

–

1,084

–

–

–

12,499

–

7,610

–

–

723

–

–

–

8,333

–

36,000

–

–

–

–

–

–

36,000

–

David Hutchison3

374,000

–

–

–

–

–

–

374,000

–

Sharad Loomba4

254,695

–

–

19,308

–

–

–

274,003

–

–

–

9,654

99,613

40,623

–

312,306

–

9,654

9,834

147,334

–

80,000

–

Peter Lewis1
George Miltenyi1
Angus Mason

2

Executive Directors

Other key management personnel
Sue Turk5

162,416

Brent Wall6

127,846

Christopher White7
Total key
management
personnel
compensation

80,000

1,053,982

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

40,423

109,447

40,623

–

– 1,244,475

*

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy

1

Peter Lewis and George Miltenyi appointed 22 June 2015 and resigned 20 August 2015.

2

Angus Mason appointed 20 August 2015.

3

David Hutchison appointed Chief Executive Officer and Director 22 June 2015 and Executive Chairman 20 August 2015.

4

Sharad Loomba appointed as Director 20 August 2015.

5

Sue Turk was Chief Operating Officer until 30 December 2015.

6

Brent Wall was appointed as Chief Financial Officer on 1 September 2015 and resigned on 29 February 2016.

7

Christopher White was appointed as Chief Financial Officer on 1 March 2016.

–

Other transactions with key management personnel and related parties
During FY2017 the following expenses were incurred by Rubicor Group from transactions with related parties of key
management personnel:
•	Consultant services for the period that Mr Mason was designated as a key management personnel paid to Cashel House
amounted to $41,932 (2016: nil).
•	Consultant services for the period that Mr White was designated as a key management personnel paid to Galibier amounted
to $995,594 (2016: $574,000).
•	Success fees for the period that Mr White was designated as a key management personnel paid to Galibier amounted to
$3,853,599 (2016: nil).
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Directors’ Report
4. Remuneration report – audited (continued)
(f)

Executive service agreements

On appointment to the Board, all non-executive Directors
sign a letter of appointment with the Company. The letter
summarises the terms including compensation, relevant to the
office of Director.
All contracts with executives may be terminated by either party
with a notice period of three months, subject to termination
payments detailed below. Executives are typically restricted
for six months after termination from conducting or engaging
in competing businesses and from solicitation of clients and
employees of the Company.

retains the right to terminate the contract immediately by
making a payment in lieu of notice.
•

Base salary, inclusive of superannuation, of $319,616 per
annum for the year ended 30 June 2017.

•

Payment of a retention bonus of $50,000 on 30 June 2017,
and thereafter on each subsequent anniversary of that
date a retention bonus equivalent to twenty percent of
base salary.

•

Payment of a termination benefit on early termination by
the Company, other than for gross misconduct, equal
to the corresponding portion of salary package in lieu of
any part of the notice period that the Company does not
require the executive to serve.

David Hutchison Chief Executive Officer & Executive
Chairman
•

Term of agreement – unlimited in term but capable of
termination on twelve months’ notice and the Company
retains the right to terminate the contract immediately by
making a payment in lieu of notice.

•

Base salary, inclusive of superannuation, of $340,000 per
annum for the year ended 30 June 2017.

•

Payment of a retention bonus of $50,000 on 30 June 2017,
and thereafter on each subsequent anniversary of that
date a retention bonus equivalent to twenty percent of
base salary.

•

Payment of a termination benefit on early termination by
the Company, other than for gross misconduct, equal
to the corresponding portion of salary package in lieu of
any part of the notice period that the Company does not
require the executive to serve.

Sharad Loomba Chief Operating Officer & Executive Director
•

Term of agreement – unlimited in term but capable of
termination on twelve months’ notice and the Company
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Christopher White Chief Financial Officer
•

Term of agreement – unlimited in term.

•

Base salary, inclusive of superannuation, of $240,000, to
be reviewed annually by the Board.

•

Mr White (appointed 1 March 2016) Chief Financial Officer,
is a Director of Galibier Partners and Galibier Investments
Pty Ltd (“Galibier”). Galibier has provided consulting
services to Rubicor Group Limited and certain of its
subsidiaries during the period on normal commercial terms
and conditions.

(g) Share-based compensation
Employee Share Option Plan
None of the non-executive Directors of Rubicor Group Limited,
are eligible to participate in the Company’s Employee Share
Option Plan. For details in relation to the Employee Share
Option Plan refer to Note 32.

4. Remuneration report – audited (continued)
(h) Options
No options were held by the Directors or KMP, including their related parties for unissued shares in the company during the year.

(i)

Equity instrument disclosures relating to key management personnel

Share holdings
The number of shares in the Company held during the financial year by each Director and other key management personnel of
the Group, including their personally related parties, is set out below:

Ordinary shares
2017

Balance at
the start of
the year

Name

Purchased

Balance at
the end of
the year

Sold

Directors
David Hutchison1

12,250,000

1,238,734

3,750,0001

9,738,734

Angus Mason

50,601,724

500,000

–

51,101,724

–

1,000,000

–

1,000,000

5,000,000

–

–

5,000,000

Sharad Loomba
Key Management Personnel
Christopher White
2016

Balance at
the start of
the year

Name

Purchased

Balance at
the end of
the year

Sold

Directors
David Hutchison
Angus Mason
Peter Lewis

2

George Miltenyi2

–

12,250,000

–

12,250,000

10,450,862

40,150,862

–

50,601,724

5,667,941

–

–

5,667,941

5,667,941

–

–

5,667,941

–

5,000,000

–

5,000,000

Key Management Personnel
Christopher White
1

On 22 March 2017, Mr Hutchison disclosed to ASX that Gigi (QLD) Pty Ltd <Gigi A/C> is no longer an associate of Mr Hutchison and accordingly, he no
longer has a relevant interest in the 3,750,000 ordinary shares held by that company. No shares were sold on 22 March 2017.

2

Peter Lewis and George Miltenyi appointed 22 June 2015, resigned 20 August 2015. Balance of shares is balance at date of resignation.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors made pursuant to section 298(2) of the Corporations Act 2001:

Director

Director

David Hutchison

Sharad Loomba

Sydney dated the 29th day of September 2017.
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration

The Directors
Rubicor Group Limited
Level 24, Pitt Street
SYDNEY NSW 2000

Auditor’s Independence Declaration
The Directors
AsLimited
lead auditor for the audit of Rubicor Group Limited for the year ended 30 June 2017, I
Rubicor Group
declare
Level 24, Pitt Street that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:
SYDNEY NSW 2000
(i) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the
Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and
(ii) no contraventions
of APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants.
Auditor’s Independence
Declaration

As lead auditor
fordeclaration
the audit of
Rubicor
Limited
for Limited
the yearand
ended
30 Juneit2017,
I
This
is in
respectGroup
of Rubicor
Group
the entities
controlled
during
declare that, to
the
best
of
my
knowledge
and
belief,
there
have
been:
the year.
no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the
Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and
PITCHER PARTNERS
(ii) no contraventions of APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants.
(i)

This declaration is in respect of Rubicor Group Limited and the entities it controlled during
N BATTERS
the year.
Partner
Brisbane, Queensland
29 September 2017
PITCHER PARTNERS

N BATTERS
Partner
Brisbane, Queensland
29 September 2017
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the members of Rubicor Group Limited

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Rubicor Group Limited
Report on the Audit of the Financial Report
Opinion
We have audited the financial report of Rubicor Group Limited “the Company” and its controlled
Independent
Report
to the
Members
Rubicor Group
Limitedof financial position as at 30 June
entitiesAuditor’s
“the Group”,
which
comprises
theof
consolidated
statement
2017, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
Reportinonequity
the Audit
of the
Financial Report
and the
consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the directors’
Opinion
declaration.

We have
audited
thethe
financial
report of
Rubicorreport
Group
“the
and
itsthe
controlled
In our
opinion,
accompanying
financial
of Limited
the Group
is inCompany”
accordance
with
Corporations
entitiesAct
“the
Group”,
which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June
2001,
including:
2017, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and
consolidated
statement
forfinancial
the yearposition
then ended,
andJune
notes
to and
the of its
(a) the giving
a true and
fair viewofofcash
the flows
Group’s
as at 30
2017
financial statements,
including
a summary
of year
significant
accounting
financial
performance
for the
then ended;
and policies, and the directors’
declaration.
(b)
complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.
In our opinion,
accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations
Basis for the
Opinion
Act 2001, including:
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under
standards
are
further
described
the Auditor’s
the Audit
theofFinancial
(a)thosegiving
a true
and
fair view
of the in
Group’s
financialResponsibilities
position as at for
30 June
2017 of
and
its
Reportfinancial
sectionperformance
of our report.
are independent
of the Group in accordance with the auditor
forWe
the year
then ended; and
of Accounting
the Corporations
Actand
2001
the ethical
requirements
(b)independence
complyingrequirements
with Australian
Standards
theand
Corporations
Regulations
2001.of the
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants
Basis for
Opinion “the Code” that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under
We confirmare
that
the independence
required
by the Corporations
Act 2001,
has been
those standards
further
described in declaration
the Auditor’s
Responsibilities
for the Audit
of thewhich
Financial
to the
directors
of the
would beofinthe
the Group
same terms
if given towith
the directors
as at the
Reportgiven
section
of our
report.
We Company,
are independent
in accordance
the auditor
time
of
this
auditor’s
report.
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional
We believe
that the
audit
weour
have
obtained
is sufficient
andinappropriate
to provide
Accountants
“the Code”
that
are evidence
relevant to
audit
of the financial
report
Australia. We
have alsoa basis
our
opinion.
fulfilledfor
our
other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been
given to the directors of the Company, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the
time of this auditor’s report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the members of Rubicor Group Limited

Emphasis of Matter
Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1(d) in the financial report which indicates
that as at 30 June 2017, the consolidated entity’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by $3.1
million. The financial report also states that the consolidated entity’s ability to execute its planned
changes in operations and achieve a return to profitability is dependent on the consolidated entity’s
ability to reduce costs and increase revenue. These conditions, along with the matters set forth in
Note 1(d) indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cost significant doubt about the
consolidated entity’s ability to continue as a going concern and therefore, the consolidated entity may
be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business and at the
amounts stated in the financial report.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibility section
of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and
the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report
in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.
Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in
our audit of the financial report of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context
of our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters.
Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the matter

Going Concern
Refer to Note 1(d): Going Concern
At 30 June 2017 the Group’s current liabilities Our procedures included, amongst others:
exceed its current assets by $3.1 million. The
 Evaluating the Group’s cash flow forecasts,
Group made an EBITDA loss before gain on debt
and the process by which they were
forgiveness, bargain purchase and sale of
prepared, and considered the key
business of $5.3 million which resulted in net
assumptions and judgements such as
cash outflows from operating activities of $12.3
expected cash inflows from contracting and
million for the year. The conditions give rise to a
permanent placement revenues and
material uncertainty which may cast doubt
expected cash outflows from payments to on
about the Group’s ability to continue as a going
hire labourers and employees and other cash
concern.
outflows;
The Directors have continued to adopt the going
 Assessing whether the key assumptions
concern basis of preparation in preparing the
relating to revenue forecasts were consistent
Group Financial Statements on the basis that
with current and historical performance;
the Group will have sufficient resources to
continue for a period of at least 12 months from  Performing sensitivities to the Directors’ cash
flow forecasts; and
the date these Financial Statements were
approved.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the members of Rubicor Group Limited

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the matter

Going Concern
Refer to Note 1(d): Going Concern
The Director’s assessment of the Group’s going
concern ability was an area of focus and we paid
particular attention to the key assumptions and
judgements made by the Directors that
impacted these cash flow forecasts.

 Assessing the adequacy of the Group’s
disclosures in the financial statements.

Acquisition of Orange Recruitment Australia Pty Ltd and its related entities and Western Port
Holdings Pty Ltd
Refer to Note 23: Business Combinations
During the year the Group acquired Orange Our procedures included, amongst others:
Recruitment Australia Pty Ltd and its related
 Reviewing the sale and purchase agreements
entities and Western Port Holdings Pty Ltd for
to understand key terms and conditions;
gross purchase consideration of $5,000 and $Nil
respectively. A gain on bargain purchase of $4.4  Evaluating assumptions and methodology in
management’s value in use models, such as
million in total for both transactions was
forecast revenues, operating costs and
recognised on acquisition. This was considered
contributory assets used to determine the
a significant gain for the Group.
value of Orange Group’s and Western Port’s
Accounting for this transaction is a complex and
customer contracts and relationships to the
judgemental exercise, requiring management to
Group;
determine the fair value of acquired assets and
liabilities, in particular determining the fair  Engaging internal Corporate Finance and
valuation specialists to compare these
value attributable to customer contracts and
valuation
assumptions
with
external
relationships acquired.
benchmarks (for example discount rates) and
It is due to the size of the acquisition and the
to consider the assumptions based on our
estimation process involved in the accounting
knowledge of the Group and its industries;
for it that is a key area of audit focus.
and
 Assessing the adequacy of the Group’s
disclosures in respect of business acquisitions.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the members of Rubicor Group Limited

Other Information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2017, but does not
include the financial report and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the members of Rubicor Group Limited

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.
• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial report. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.
We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.
We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.
From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the financial report of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the members of Rubicor Group Limited

Report on the Remuneration Report
Opinion on the Remuneration Report
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 6 to 11 of the directors’ report for the
year ended 30 June 2017. In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Rubicor Group Limited, for the
year ended 30 June 2017, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.
Responsibilities
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the
Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.

PITCHER PARTNERS

NIGEL BATTERS
Partner
Brisbane, Queensland
29 September 2017
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Directors’ Declaration
The Directors declare that:
(a) in the Directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when
they become due and payable;
(b) the attached financial statements are in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards, as stated in Note 1 to
the financial statements;
(c) in the Directors’ opinion, the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the Corporations
Act 2001, including compliance with accounting standards and giving a true and fair view of the financial position and
performance of the consolidated entity; and
(d) the Directors have been given the declarations by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made pursuant to section 295(5) of the Corporations Act 2001.
On behalf of the Directors

Director

Director

David Hutchison

Sharad Loomba

Sydney
Dated the 29th day of September 2017
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Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income
For the financial year ended 30 June 2017

Note

2016
Restated*
$000

2017
$000

Revenue

2

199,803

206,216

Gain on debt forgiven

2

14,736

–

Gain from bargain purchase

2

4,441

–

Profit from sale of business

2

741

–

On hired labour costs
Employee benefits expense

3

Rental expense on operating leases
Consultancy expense
Computer costs and support
Travel expense
Restructuring expense

3

(168,051)

(23,016)

(25,859)

(2,582)

(2,389)

(398)

(645)

(1,097)

(1,199)

(849)

(911)

(2,846)

(3,834)

–

Transaction and capital advisory costs
Other expenses

(167,864)

3

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation and impairment (EBITDA)

(394)

(6,461)

(6,733)

14,608

(3,799)

Depreciation

3

(433)

(527)

Amortisation of intangible assets

11

(233)

(53)

Finance costs

3

(1,995)

(2,458)

3,11

(1,188)

–

Impairment losses relating to intangible assets
Profit/(loss) before income tax expense

10,759

(6,837)

4,957

(353)

15,716

(7,190)

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations

2,436

(979)

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

2,436

(979)

18,152

(8,169)

15,552

(7,743)

164

553

15,716

(7,190)

17,988

(8,722)

164

553

18,152

(8,169)

Income tax benefit/(expense)

5

Profit/(loss) for the year
Other comprehensive profit/(loss)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Total comprehensive profit/(loss) for the year
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests
Total comprehensive profit/(loss) for the year attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests
Basic profit/(loss) per share (cents)

33

6.3

(4.7)

Diluted profit/(loss) per share (cents)

33

6.3

(4.7)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
*

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2017

Note

2016
Restated*
$000

2017
$000

2015
Restated*
$000

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

7

1,860

10,134

720

Trade and other receivables

8

25,492

25,369

28,326

Other financial assets

9

119

316

734

Other assets

10

859

1,029

1,265

Current tax receivable

13

2

–

27

28,332

36,848

31,072

Total current assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

12

2,169

1,476

1,628

Deferred tax assets

13

6,249

2,964

2,887

Intangible assets

11

5,465

1,153

838

Other assets

10

–

2

2

Total non-current assets

13,883

5,595

5,355

Total assets

42,215

42,443

36,427

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

14

16,032

36,334

23,135

Borrowings

15

13,903

10,757

13,407

Current tax payable

13

–

158

–

Provisions

16

1,459

2,416

2,340

31,394

49,665

38,882

Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings

15

1,110

874

874

Provisions

16

663

721

1,595

1,773

1,595

2,469

33,167

51,260

41,351

9,048

(8,817)

(4,924)

Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets/(liabilities)
Equity/(deficiency)
Share capital

17

70,142

70,142

65,385

Reserves

18

1,124

(1,312)

(333)

Accumulated losses

19

(77,770)

(70,027)

9,048

(8,940)

(4,975)

9,048

(8,940)

(4,975)

–

123

51

9,048

(8,817)

(4,924)

Equity/(deficiency) attributable to owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests
Total equity/(deficiency)

(62,218)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
*

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the financial year ended 30 June 2017

2017

Equitysettled
employee
benefit
reserve
$000

Balance at
1 July 2016

Foreign
currency
translation
reserve
$000

Attributable
NonAccumu- to owners of controlling
lated losses the parent
interests
$000
$000
$000

Share
capital
$000

Total
$000

29

(1,341)

70,142

(77,770)

(8,940)

123

(8,817)

Profit for the year

–

–

–

15,552

15,552

164

15,716

Other comprehensive
income for the year,
net of tax

–

2,436

–

–

2,436

–

2,436

Total
comprehensive
profit for the year

–

2,436

–

15,552

17,988

164

18,152

Disposal of interest
in non-controlling
interests

–

–

–

–

–

(287)

(287)

Dividends paid

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Issue of ordinary shares

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

29

1,095

70,142

9,048

–

9,048

Balance at
30 June 2017

2016

Equitysettled
employee
benefit
reserve
Restated*
$000

Balance at
1 July 2015

Foreign
currency
translation
reserve
Restated*
$000

Share
capital
Restated*
$000

(62,218)

Attributable
NonAccumu- to owners of controlling
lated losses the parent
interests
Restated* Restated* Restated*
$000
$000
$000

Total
Restated*
$000

29

(362)

65,385

(70,027)

(4,975)

51

(4,924)

Loss for the year

–

–

–

(7,743)

(7,743)

553

(7,190)

Other comprehensive
loss for the year, net
of tax

–

(979)

–

–

(979)

–

(979)

Total
comprehensive loss
for the year

–

(979)

–

(7,743)

(8,722)

553

(8,169)

Disposal of interest
in non-controlling
interests

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Dividends paid

–

–

–

–

–

(481)

(481)

Issue of ordinary shares

–

–

4,757

–

4,757

–

4,757

Balance at
30 June 2016

29

(1,341)

70,142

(77,770)

(8,940)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
*

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy
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123

(8,817)

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the financial year ended 30 June 2017

2016
Restated*
$000

2017
$000

Note

Cash from operating activities
Receipts from customers (inclusive of GST)
Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of GST)

Finance costs paid

227,948

(226,738)

(218,979)

(10,228)

8,969

(1,995)

(2,458)

68

Interest received
Income taxes paid
Total cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities

216,510

20(a)

17

(170)

(245)

(12,325)

6,283

(507)

(375)

Cash flows from investing activities
Payment for property, plant and equipment

–

Payment for intangible assets

(5)

Payment for businesses acquired

(369)
–

640

–

Net proceeds on sale of business

1,200

–

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities

1,328

(744)

2,614

(2,373)

Proceeds from redemption of investments

Cash flows from financing activities
(Payments)/proceeds from third party borrowings

(88)

Repayment of third party borrowings

–

Dividends paid to minority shareholders

–

(480)

Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares

–

4,757

2,526

1,904

Net cash (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents

(8,471)

7,443

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

10.450

3,007

1,979

10,450

Net cash inflow from financing activities

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

7

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 			
*

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy
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Notes to the Financial Statements
1. Accounting policies
(a) General information
The financial statements cover the Group (consolidated
entity) of Rubicor Group Limited (the Company/Parent) and
its controlled entities (consolidated financial statements).
Rubicor Group Limited is a public Company listed on the
Australian Securities Exchange (trading under the symbol ‘RUB’),
incorporated and domiciled in Australia.
Rubicor Group Limited’s registered office and principal place
of business is as follows:

$15.7 million, and the statement of financial position reflects
an excess of current liabilities over current assets of $3.1 million
and a net asset surplus of $9.0 million as at 30 June 2017.
The statement of cash flows for the year ended 30 June 2017
reflects net cash outflows from operations of $12.3 million.
The Directors have reviewed the cash flow forecast for the
Group through to 30 September 2018. The forecast indicates
that the Group will operate within the overall finance facility
limit with Scottish Pacific and that the Group will therefore
be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due after
considering the following factors:

Rubicor Group Limited
Level 24, 68 Pitt Street
Sydney NSW 2000

•

The Group has continued to implement cost savings
initiatives and is expected to achieve revenue growth
resulting in improved cash flows and profitability.

The following are a summary of the material accounting
policies adopted by the Group in the preparation of the
financial statements. The accounting policies have been
consistently applied, unless otherwise stated.

•

As at 30 June 2017, the Group had available cash
resources of $2.0m.

•

The finance facility with Scottish Pacific was renegotiated
on 26th June 2017 and extended for a term of 40 months
subject to termination without notice if a termination event,
as defined in the facility agreement, occurs.

(b) Statement of compliance
The financial statements are general purpose financial
statements which have been prepared in accordance
with the Corporations Act 2001, Accounting Standards and
Interpretations, and comply with other requirements of the law.

The financier has indicated its intention to continue to support
the Group.

The financial statements comprise the consolidated
financial statements of the Group. For the purposes of
preparing the consolidated financial statements, the company
is a for-profit entity.

The Directors have concluded that it is appropriate to prepare
the financial statements on the going concern basis, as they
are confident that the Group and the Parent will be able to
pay their debts as and when they become due and payable
from positive cash flows from operations and finance facilities.

Accounting Standards include Australian equivalents
to International Financial Reporting Standards (A-IFRS).
Compliance with A-IFRS ensures that the financial statements
of the Group comply with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS).

The financial statements do not include adjustments relating to
the recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts
nor to the amounts and classification of liabilities that might be
necessary should the Group and the Parent not continue as
going concerns.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board
of Directors on 28 September 2017.

(e) Change in Accounting Policy

(c) Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on an accruals
basis and are based on historical costs, except for certain
financial instruments, which are carried at fair value. Cost
is based on the fair values of the consideration given in
exchange for assets. All amounts are presented in Australian
dollars, unless otherwise noted.
The company is a company of the kind referred to in ASIC
Corporations (Rounding in Financials/Directors’ Reports)
Instrument 2016/191, dated 24 March 2016, and in
accordance with that Corporations Instrument amounts in the
directors’ report and the financial statements are rounded off
to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise indicated.

(d) Going concern
The Directors have prepared the financial report on the going
concern basis, which assumes continuity of normal business
activities and the realisation of assets and the settlement of
liabilities in the ordinary course of business. The statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year
ended 30 June 2017 reflects a consolidated Group profit of
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During the year, the Directors have implemented a voluntary
amendment to the Group’s accounting for permanent
placement revenue. The revised policy, as stated below,
provides for the recognition of revenue at the employment
commencement date, as opposed to the offer acceptance
date recognition point under the previous policy.
The Directors believe that the revised policy provides reliable
and more relevant information to users of the financial
statements in that it removes the uncertainty surrounding
receipt of revenue which prevailed under the previous policy.
As required under AASB 108: Accounting Policies, Changes
in Accounting Estimates and Errors, the change has been
applied retrospectively in these financial statements. The
impacts of the change (revised policy vs previous policy)
on line items in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and comprehensive income and the statement of financial
position are as follows:

1. Accounting policies (continued)
Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
2016
Restated*
$000

2017
$000

Revenue

1,040

(316)

EBITDA

1,040

(316)

Profit/(loss) before income tax

1,040

(316)

(312)

71

Profit/(loss) for the period

728

(245)

Total comprehensive income for the period

728

(245)

0.4c

(0.1)c

Income tax expense

Earnings per share
*

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy

Statement of financial position		
2016
Restated*
$000

2017
$000

2015
Restated*
$000

Trade and other receivables

(387)

(1,427)

(1,111)

Total current assets

(387)

(1,427)

(1,111)

Deferred tax assets

58

304

233

Total non-current assets

58

304

233

Total assets

(329)

(1,123)

(878)

Net assets/(liabilities)

(329)

(1,123)

(878)

Accumulated losses

(329)

(924)

(652)

(199)

(226)

(1,123)

(878)

–

Non-controlling interests

(329)

Total equity
*

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy

All other accounting policies applied are consistent with those applied in the 2016 annual financial statements and there have
been no changes.

(f) Property, plant and equipment

(ii)

Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost
less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

The depreciable amount of all fixed assets including
capitalised lease assets is depreciated on a straight-line basis
over their useful lives (commencing from the time the asset is
ready for use). Leasehold improvements are depreciated over
the shorter of either the unexpired period of the lease or the
estimated useful lives of the improvements.

(i)

Plant and equipment

Cost includes all directly attributable expenditure incurred,
including costs to get the asset ready for its use as intended
by management. Costs include an estimate of any
expenditure expected to be incurred at the end of the
asset’s useful life, including restoration, rehabilitation and
decommissioning costs.

Depreciation

The depreciable amount is the carrying value of the asset less
estimated residual amounts. The residual amount is based on
what a similar asset of the expected condition of the asset at
the end of its useful life could be sold for.

The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed
annually by Directors for indications of impairment. If any such
indications exist, an impairment test is carried out, and any
impairment losses on the assets recognised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
1. Accounting policies (continued)
The following useful lives are used in the calculation of
depreciation for the current and comparative year:
Class of Fixed Asset

Estimated Useful Lives

Leasehold improvements

4-7 years

Motor vehicles

5 years

Office equipment

2.5-7 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted, if appropriate, at each statement of financial
position date.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with the carrying amount. These gains and losses are
included in profit or loss.

(g) Business combinations
Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted
for using the acquisition method. The consideration for each
acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the fair values
(at the date of exchange) of assets given, liabilities incurred
or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs
are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
Where applicable, the consideration for the acquisition
includes any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement, measured at its acquisitiondate fair value. Subsequent changes in such fair values are
adjusted against the cost of acquisition where they qualify
as measurement period adjustments. All other subsequent
changes in the fair value of contingent consideration classified
as an asset or liability are accounted for through profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.
Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group’s previously held interests in the acquired entity are
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date
the Group attains control) and the resulting gain or loss, if any,
is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in
the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously
been recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss, where such treatment would be
appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

(h) Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
on the Group’s statement of financial position when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument.

(i)

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at
fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate method less provision
for impairment. Appropriate allowances for estimated
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irrecoverable amounts are recognised in profit or loss when
there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired.
The allowance recognised is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective interest
rate computed at initial recognition.
Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and credit terms
are generally 30 days.

(ii)

Investments

Investments in subsidiaries have been recognised at cost, less
impairment losses, in the parent entity.

(iii)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and demand deposits and other short-term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount
of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value.
Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities
in the statement of financial position.

(iv)

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Group
are classified according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument. An equity instrument is any
contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of
the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting
policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity
instruments are set out below.

(v)

Trade payables

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and are
subsequently measured at amortised cost.

(vi)

Borrowings

Interest-bearing loans and overdrafts are initially measured
at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method. Any difference between the proceeds (net
of transaction costs) and the settlement or redemption of
borrowings is recognised over the term of the borrowings.
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost
of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
are incurred.

(vii) Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

1. Accounting policies (continued)
(i)

Intangible assets

(i)

Computer software

Computer software is measured on the cost basis less
amortisation and impairment losses. Computer software is
amortised on a straight-line basis over its useful life to the
Group of three to five years commencing from the time the
software is held ready for use.

(ii)

Customer relationships

Customer relationships have been externally acquired.
Customer relationship assets are recorded at fair value
based on an assessment of the future cash flows. Customer
relationship assets are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. We calculate amortisation
using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives
of the respective assets, generally ten years. We test customer
relationship assets for impairment on an annual basis, or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that it might be impaired, and we write its value down when
impaired.

(j)

Impairment

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying values
of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have been impaired.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell
and value in use, is compared to the asset’s carrying value.
Any excess of the asset’s carrying value over its recoverable
amount is expensed in profit or loss.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

the sale, which should be expected to have been completed
within one year from the date of classification.
Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for
sale are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair
value less costs to sell, and are not depreciated.

(l)

Employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and long service
leave when it is probable that settlement will be required and
they are capable of being measured reliably.
Liabilities recognised in respect of employee benefits
expected to be wholly settled within 12 months are measured
at their nominal values using the remuneration rate expected
to apply at the time of settlement.
Liabilities recognised in respect of employee benefits which
are not expected to be wholly settled within 12 months are
measured as the present value of the estimated future cash
outflows to be made by the Group in respect of services
provided by employees up to the reporting date.

Defined contribution plans
Contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans are
expensed when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

(m) Provisions
Provisions, including provisions for make good costs, are
recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive
obligation, as a result of past events, for which it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that the
outflow can be reliably measured. Where the time value of
money is material, these amounts have been discounted
using an appropriate discount rate.

Impairment testing is performed annually for goodwill, and
identifiable intangible assets with indefinite useful lives (brands).

(n) Income tax

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

The charge for current income tax expense is based on
the profit for the year adjusted for any non- assessable or
disallowed items. It is calculated using the tax rates that have
been enacted or are substantively enacted by the statement
of financial position date.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is increased to
the revised recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income in profit or loss. Impairments of goodwill
are not reversed.

(k) Non-current assets held for sale
Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through a
sale transaction rather than continuing use. This condition is
regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and
the asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate sale
in its present condition. Management must be committed to

Current tax

Deferred tax
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised on temporary
differences arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements
used in the computation of taxable profit. No deferred tax
assets or liabilities will be recognised from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability, excluding a business combination, that
at the time of the transaction did not affect either accounting
or taxable profit or loss.
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply to the period when the asset is realised or liability is
settled. Deferred tax is recognised in the income statement
except where it relates to items which are recognised directly
in equity, in which case the deferred tax is recognised directly
in equity.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
1. Accounting policies (continued)
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences and tax losses can
be utilised.

Tax consolidation
Relevance of tax consolidation to the Group
The company and its wholly-owned Australian resident entities
have formed a tax-consolidated group with effect from
9 May 2005 and are therefore taxed as a single entity from
that date. The head entity within the tax-consolidated group is
Rubicor Group Limited. The members of the tax-consolidated
group are identified in Note 21. Tax expense/income, deferred
tax liabilities and deferred tax assets arising from temporary
differences of the members of the tax-consolidated group
are recognised in the separate financial statements of the
members of the tax-consolidated group using the ‘separate
taxpayer within group’ approach by reference to the carrying
amounts in the separate financial statements of each entity
and the tax values applying under tax consolidation. Current
tax liabilities and assets and deferred tax assets arising from
unused tax losses and relevant tax credits of the members of
the tax-consolidated group are recognised by the company
(as head entity in the tax-consolidated group).
Due to the existence of a tax funding arrangement between
the entities in the tax-consolidated group, amounts are
recognised as payable to or receivable by the company and
each member of the group in relation to the tax contribution
amounts paid or payable between the parent entity and the
other members of the tax-consolidated group in accordance
with the arrangement.

Nature of tax funding arrangements and tax
sharing agreements
Entities within the tax-consolidated group have entered into
a tax funding arrangement and a tax sharing agreement
with the head entity. Under the terms of the tax funding
arrangement, Rubicor Group Limited and each of the entities
in the tax-consolidated group has agreed to pay a tax
equivalent payment to or from the head entity, based on the
current tax liability or current tax asset of the entity.
The tax sharing agreement entered into between members
of the tax-consolidated group provides for the determination
of the allocation of income tax liabilities between the entities
should the head entity default on its tax payment obligations
or if an entity should leave the tax-consolidated group. The
effect of the tax sharing agreement is that each member’s
liability for tax payable by the tax-consolidated group is limited
to the amount payable to the head entity under the tax
funding arrangement.

(o) Leases
Leases of fixed assets where substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to the ownership of the asset, but not the
legal ownership, that are transferred to entities in the Group are
classified as finance leases.
Finance leases are capitalised at the inception of the lease
by recording an asset and a liability at the lower of the
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amounts equal to the fair value of the leased property and the
present value of the minimum lease payments, including any
guaranteed residual values. Lease payments are allocated
between the reduction of the lease liability and the lease
interest expense.
The interest expense is recognised in profit or loss so as to
achieve a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability outstanding.
Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially
all the risks and benefits remain with the lessor, are charged
to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are
recognised as an expense in the period in which they
are incurred.
Lease incentives under operating leases are recognised
as a liability and amortised on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

(p) Revenue recognition
Revenue from permanent placements is recognised as work
is performed in accordance with agreed terms for retainerbased appointments, or on candidate start date for nonretainer-based appointments.
Revenue from temporary placements is recognised at the
time when the services are performed.
Revenue for the rendering of a service, including human
capital consulting services, is recognised upon the delivery
of the service to the customer by reference to the stage of
completion of the contract.
Revenue from recharge of expenses incurred in connection
with recruitment services is recognised when the related
expense is incurred and on-charged to the customer in
accordance with agreed contractual terms.
Interest revenue is recognised on an effective interest rate
method in relation to the outstanding financial asset.
Revenue from management fees is recognised at the time the
service is performed.
All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services
tax (GST), trade allowances and other duties and taxes paid.

(q) Foreign currency translation
Functional and presentation currency
The functional currency of each of the Group’s entities
is identified as the currency of the primary economic
environment in which that entity operates, and is used in
the recognition of transactions and balances for that entity.
The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Australian dollars, which is the parent entity’s functional and
presentation currency.
On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
foreign operations are translated into Australian dollars at
exchange rates prevailing on the balance date. Income and
expense items are translated at the average exchange rates
for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuated significantly

1. Accounting policies (continued)
during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the
dates of the transaction are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are classified as equity and transferred to the
Group’s foreign currency translation reserve. Such exchange
differences are recognised in the profit or loss in the period in
which the foreign operation is disposed.

(r)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company (Rubicor Group Limited)
and entities controlled by the Company. Rubicor Group
Limited and its controlled entities are referred to in this financial
report as the ‘Group’. Control is achieved when the Company:
•

has power over the investee;

•

is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

•

has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The results of controlled entities acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated profit and loss from
the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of
disposal, as appropriate.
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the
Company gains control until the date when the Company
ceases to control the subsidiary.
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the noncontrolling interests having a deficit balance.
A list of controlled entities is contained in Note 21 to the
financial statements. All controlled entities have a June
financial year end.
All inter-company balances and transactions between
entities in the Group, including any unrealised profits or losses,
are eliminated on consolidation. Accounting policies of
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with those policies adopted by the Group.

(s)

Critical accounting estimates and judgments

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that may have a financial
impact on the entity and that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting estimates may not always equal the
actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying

amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year
are discussed below.

(i)

Estimated impairment of intangible and other non
current assets

The Group annually assesses whether intangibles and other
non current assets have suffered any impairment. If such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated to determine the extent of any impairment loss.
Recoverable amounts of assets are determined based on
the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
Such assessments require judgement in the basis of fair value
determination, and cash flows and discount rates applied in
value in use calculations.

(ii)

Recoverability of deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets in respect of temporary differences and
income tax losses are recognised only to the extent that
it is considered probable that there will be sufficient future
taxable profits available to allow the recognised asset to be
recovered. This assessment involves estimation uncertainty
in relation to forecast future operating and taxable profits of
the Group.

(iii)

Onerous lease provision

An onerous lease provision is recognised in respect of
contracts where the unavoidable costs of meeting the
obligations under the contract exceed the economic benefits
expected to be received associated with the leasing contract.
Where leased premises have been vacated before the end
of the lease term this requires assessment of future benefits,
including potential sub-lease income, which will be derived
from the lease contracts.

(t)

Goods and services tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the
amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not
recoverable from the taxation authority. In this case it is
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as
part of the expense.
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the
amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of
GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is
included with other receivables or payables in the statement
of financial position.
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST
components of cash flows arising from investing or financing
activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the
taxation authority are presented as operating cash flow.

(u) Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payments with employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instrument at the grant date. The fair
value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled
share‑based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis
over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of
shares that will eventually vest.
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The above policy is applied to all equity-settled share-based
payments that were granted after 7 November 2002 and that
vested after 1 January 2005. No amount has been recognised
in the financial statements in respect of other equity-settled
share-based payments.
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with other
parties are measured at the fair value of the goods and
services received, except where the fair value cannot be
estimated reliably, in which case they are measured at the
fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured at
the date the entity obtains the goods or the counterparty
renders the service. For cash-settled share-based payments, a
liability equal to the portion of the goods or services received
is recognised at the current fair value determined at each
reporting date.
The fair value at grant date of instruments issued is
independently determined using the Monte Carlo option
pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the
term of the option, the impact of dilution, the expected price
volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield
and the risk-free interest rate for the term of the option.
The fair value of options granted is adjusted to reflect market
vesting conditions, but excludes the impact of any nonmarket vesting conditions (for example, profitability and
sales growth targets). Non-market vesting conditions are
included in assumptions about the number of options that are
expected to become exercisable. At each balance date,

the entity revises its estimate of the number of options that
are expected to become exercisable. The employee benefit
expense recognised each period takes into account the most
recent estimate.
Upon the exercise of options, the balance of the share-based
payments reserve relating to those options is transferred to
share capital and the proceeds received, net of any directly
attributable transaction costs, are credited to share capital.
Share-based compensation benefits are provided to
employees via the Key Employee Share Option Plan (the Plan)
(refer to Note 32).

(v) Adoption of New and Revised
Accounting Standards
New and revised AASBs affecting amounts reported and/
or disclosures in the financial statements
During the year no new accounting standards came into
effect. Amendments to existing accounting standards that
came into effect do not impact the Group’s accounting
policies or any of the disclosures.

Standards and Interpretations in issue not yet adopted
At the date of authorisation of the financial statements, the
Standards and Interpretations that were issued but not yet
effective are listed below. The potential effect of the revised
Standards/Interpretations on the Group’s financial statements
has not yet been determined.

Standard/Interpretation

Effective for
Expected to be
annual reporting initially applied in
periods beginning the financial year
or after
ending

AASB 9 Financial Instruments

1 January 2018

30 June 2019

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

1 January 2018

30 June 2019

(w) Dividends
A liability is recognised for the amount of any dividend declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer at the discretion of
the entity, on or before the end of the financial year but not distributed at balance date.

(x) Earnings per share
(i)

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the Company, after deducting any
costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the
financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year.

(ii)

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in determination of basic earnings per share to take into account the after
income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the weighted
average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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2. Revenue and other income
(a) Revenue from:
2016
Restated*
$000

2017
$000

Recruitment services

194,755

201,302

Interest

68

17

Recharge income/(expenses)

11

(37)

406

1,310

Managed services

1,357

565

Other

3,206

3,059

Total

199,803

206,216

Organisational development fees

*

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy

(b) Gain on debt forgiven
2017
$000

14,736

Gain on debt forgiven
*

2016
Restated*
$000

–

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy

On the 4th of July 2016, Rubicor announced a further step towards the full corporate restructure of the group. The restructure
involved placing four of the Group’s businesses into voluntary administration.
Christopher Baskerville, Sule Arnautovic, Kimberly Strickland and Glenn Crisp of Jirsch Sutherland were appointed to act as voluntary
administrators. Through Jirsch Sutherland, Rubicor proposed a Deed of Company Arrangement (DOCA) to creditors of the three
subsidiaries in voluntary administration.
On the 8th of August 2016, the DOCA was put forward by Rubicor and approved by resolution at the second creditors meeting.
Following the approval of the DOCA, control of the three subsidiaries was returned to the respective directors.
The key features of the DOCA were as follows:
•

Rubicor’s assumption of all employee entitlement and liabilities;

•

Rubicor’s assumption of all obligations relating to the group finance facility with Scottish Pacific;

•

Indemnification of the voluntary administration for their trading liabilities; and

•

Payment of an aggregate amount of $1.8m to settle all unsecured claims.

This has resulted in a net gain of $14.7 million, after offsetting consultancy, legal and administrator fees of $4.8m.
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2. Revenue and other income (continued)
(c) Gain from bargain purchase
2016
Restated*
$000

2017
$000

Gain from bargain purchase (see note 23)
*

4,441

–

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy

(d) Other gains and losses
2016
Restated*
$000

2017
$000

741

Profit on sale of business
*

–

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy

On 26 April 2017 Rubicor Group Limited sold its 50.1% shareholding in Ensure Group. The combined contribution of Ensure
Group for 2017 was an EBITDA profit of $0.7 million and profit after tax of $0.3 million. The consideration received for the sale was
$1.971 million.

3. Expenses
(a) Other expenses
2017
$000

2016
Restated*
$000

Advertising and marketing

1,000

1,083

Administration

5,461

5,650

Total

6,461

6,733

*

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy

(b) Employee benefits expense
2017
$000

2016
Restated*
$000

20,314

22,510

Superannuation

1,510

1,777

Other

1,192

1,572

Total

23,016

25,859

Salaries, including commission and bonuses1

*

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy

1

Excludes personnel salary costs totalling $0.7 million (2016: $1.0 million), included as restructuring expense per Note 3(c) below.
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3. Expenses (continued)
(c) Profit before income tax includes the following specific expenses:
2016
Restated*
$000

2017
$000

Finance costs:
662

368

Interest and finance charges on third party borrowings

1,333

2,090

Total

1,995

2,458

433

527

12,258

12,113

1,510

1,777

13,768

13,890

255

355

Staff redundancy and termination expense

676

1,024

Other costs in relation to new system implementation

609

–

1,265

1,517

Amortisation of borrowing costs

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Defined contribution superannuation expense:
On hired labour costs
Employee benefits expense
Total
Allowance for impairment of trade and other receivables
Restructuring expense:

Consultancy expenses

296

1,293

2,846

3,834

1,188

–

1,188

–

190

95

Other restructuring expense
Other significant expenses:
Impairment of intangible assets:
Computer software1
Foreign exchange loss
*

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy

1 Relates to third party vendor costs impaired due to abandonment of related software.

4. Auditor’s remuneration
2016
Restated*
$000

2017
$000

Auditor of the parent entity – Pitcher Partners – Brisbane
Audit or review of financial reports under the Corporations Act 2001
Tax advisory

120

–

19

–

5

Other assurance services
Total remuneration

144

–

Audit of financial reports

–

–

Tax compliance services

–

–

–

–

Related practices of Pitcher Partners – Brisbane

*

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy
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4. Auditor’s remuneration (continued)
2016
Restated*
$000

2017
$000

Auditor of the parent entity – Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu – Sydney
Audit or review of financial reports under the Corporations Act 2001

–

235

Tax advisory

–

–

Other assurance services

–

–

Total remuneration

–

235

Audit of financial reports1

–

43

Tax compliance services1

–

22

–

65

Related practices of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu – Sydney

1

Relates to Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu-New Zealand and Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu-Singapore.

5. Income tax (benefit)/expense
(a) Components of tax (benefit)/expense
2016
Restated*
$000

2017
$000

Current tax expense

–

379

Deferred tax relating to the origination and reversal of temporary differences

(4,957)

(26)

Income tax (benefit)/expense

(4,957)

353

*

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy
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5. Income tax (benefit)/expense (continued)
(b) Reconciliation of prima facie tax on profit/(loss) from ordinary activities to income tax
(benefit)/expense
2016
Restated*
$000

2017
$000

Profit/(loss) before tax
Prima facie tax expense/(benefit) on profit/(loss) loss from ordinary activities
before income tax at 30% (2016: 30%)

10,759

(6,837)

3,228

(2,051)

–

40

Add:
Tax effect of:
- non-deductible interest

(1,332)

- gain on bargain purchase

–

260

- loss on loans forgiven

–

(4,422)

- gain on loans forgiven

–

- other non-allowable/non-assessable items

–

690

- other non-deductible employee expenses

118

201

- capital gain on sale of subsidiary

182

–

- difference in overseas tax rates

142

(60)

–

1,533

- effect of current year tax losses not brought to account
- effect of previously unrecognised tax losses and deductible temporary differences now
brought to account

(3,133)

–

Income tax (benefit)/expense

(4,957)

353

*

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy

(c) Unrecognised deferred tax assets
2016
Restated*
$000

2017
$000

Tax losses – revenue

*

–

3,230

–

3,230

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy

(d) Recognised deferred tax assets
Despite incurrence of losses in the current year the Group has recognised deferred tax assets relating to the benefit of temporary
differences in the Australian tax jurisdiction and both temporary and income tax losses in the New Zealand tax jurisdiction.
These have been recognised on the basis of the probable expectation of taxable profits that will be generated in these
jurisdictions over a reasonable future period as a result of restructuring initiatives including operating cost savings and loss making
business disposals.
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6. Key management personnel disclosures
(a) Key management personnel compensation for the year was as follows:
2016
Restated*
$

2017
$

966,833

1,053,982

19,616

40,423

Termination payments

–

109,447

Long service leave

–

40,623

986,449

1,244,475

Short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits

Total
*

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy

(b) Individual director and key management personnel disclosures
Detailed remuneration disclosures are included in the Directors’ Report. The relevant information can be found in sections 4(a)-(h)
of the Remuneration Report on pages 6 to 11.

(c) Key management personnel transactions with the Company and its controlled entities
Information regarding individual key management personnel’s service contracts with the Group is provided in the Remuneration
Report (refer to page 8).

7. Cash and cash equivalents
2016
Restated*
$000

2017
$000

7

12

Cash at Bank

1,853

10,122

Total cash and cash equivalents

1,860

10,134

1,860

10,134

119

316

1,979

10,450

Cash on hand

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows is
reconciled to items in the statement of financial position as follows:
Cash and cash equivalents
Other financial assets (note 9)

*

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy
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8. Trade and other receivables
2016
Restated*
$000

2017
$000

Current
24,248

Trade receivables

(376)

Allowance for impairment of receivables

Total trade and other receivables
*

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy

1

Other receivables – rental deposits relates to cash deposits paid for leased premises.

(550)

23,872

23,679

599

1,042

1,021

648

25,492

25,369

Other receivables – rental deposits1
Other receivables

24,229

The ageing of past due trade receivables (including impaired trade receivables) at year end is detailed below:
2016
Restated*
$000

2017
$000

4,215

3,848

Past due 31 – 60 days

567

1,475

Past due 60+ days

662

1,453

5,444

6,776

Past due 0 – 30 days

Total
*

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy

Age of impaired trade receivables:
2016
Restated*
$000

2017
$000

60 – 90 days

–

–

90 – 120 days

–

–

120+ days

376

550

Total

376

550

*

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy

The movement in the allowance for doubtful accounts in respect of trade receivables is detailed below:
2016
Restated*
$000

2017
$000

Balance at beginning of year
Amounts written off as uncollectible
Increase in allowance recognised in profit or loss
Foreign currency exchange differences
Balance at end of year
*

550

440

(429)

(245)

255

355

–

–

376

550

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy
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8. Trade and other receivables (continued)
The average credit period on provision of services is 30 days. No interest is charged on trade receivable balances overdue.
The Group has used the following basis to assess the allowance loss for specific trade receivables balances identified as doubtful:
•

a specific provision based on estimated irrecoverable amounts;

•

historical bad debt experience;

•

the general economic conditions;

•

an individual account-by-account specific risk assessment based on past credit history; and

•

any prior knowledge of debtor insolvency or other credit risk.

Included in the Group’s trade receivable balance are debtors with a carrying amount of $5.1 million (2016: $6.2 million) which
are past due at the reporting date, which the Group has not provided for as there has been no significant change in credit
quality and the Group believes that the amounts are still considered recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over
these balances.

9. Other financial assets
2016
Restated*
$000

2017
$000

Cash held on term deposits (note 7)1

119

316

Total other financial assets

119

316

*

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy

1

Cash held on term deposits relates to corporate credit card facility.

10. Other assets
2016
Restated*
$000

2017
$000

Current
Prepayments

*

859

1,029

859

1,029

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy

2016
Restated*
$000

2017
$000

Non-current
Other

*

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy
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–

2

–

2

11. Intangible assets		
2016
Restated*
$000

2017
$000

Computer software and other intangible assets
Cost
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Net carrying value

4,988

6,079

(4,927)

(4,926)

61

1,153

5,606

–

Customer relationships
Cost

(202)

Accumulated amortisation and impairment

–

Net carrying value

5,404

–

Net carrying value

5,465

1,153

*

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy

(a) Intangible assets – detailed reconciliation

2017

Customer
relationships
$000

Computer
software
$000

Total
$000

Cost brought forward

–

6,079

6.079

Additions other than through business combinations

–

6

6

(5,606)

–

(5,606)

Disposals/scrappings

–

(48)

(48)

Direct impairment write-off

–

(1,047)

(1,047)

Net foreign currency exchange differences

–

(2)

(2)

5,606

4,988

10,594

Amortisation and impairment brought forward

–

(4,926)

(4,926)

Disposals/scrappings

–

28

28

(202)

(30)

(232)

Impairment losses

–

–

–

Net foreign currency exchange differences

–

1

1

Additions – business combinations

Amortisation expense

(202)
Closing written-down value

5,404

(4,927)
61

(5,129)
5,465

RUBICOR ANNUAL REPORT 2017 | 39

Notes to the Financial Statements
11. Intangible assets (continued)

2016

Customer
relationships
Restated*
$000

Computer
software
Restated*
$000

Total
Restated*
$000

Cost brought forward

–

6,648

6,648

Additions other than through business combinations

–

380

380

Disposals/scrappings

–

(949)

(949)

Net foreign currency exchange differences

–

–

–

–

6,079

6,079

Amortisation and impairment brought forward

–

(5,810)

(5,810)

Disposals/scrappings

–

949

949

Amortisation expense

–

(53)

(53)

Impairment losses

–

–

–

Net foreign currency exchange differences

–

(12)

(12)

–

(4,926)

(4,926)

–

1,153

1,153

Closing written-down value
*

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy
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12. Property, plant and equipment

2017

Motor
vehicles
$000

Leasehold
improvements
$000

Office
equipment
$000

Total
$000

Cost
Balance at the beginning of the year

18

1,520

3,000

4,538

446

868

180

1,494

Disposals/scrapping

–

(330)

(774)

(1,104)

Transfers

–

158

(158)

–

Net foreign currency exchange differences

–

(13)

(18)

(31)

464

2,203

2,230

4,897

(18)

(678)

(2,366)

(3,062)

–

184

605

789

(3)

(185)

(285)

(473)

Transfers

–

(116)

116

–

Net foreign currency exchange differences

–

14

2

16

Payment for purchase of property, plant and equipment

Balance at 30 June 2017
Depreciation and impairment losses
Balance at the beginning of the year
Disposals/scrapping
Depreciation expense

Balance at 30 June 2017

(21)

Carrying amount – 30 June 2017

443

2016

Motor
vehicles
Restated*
$000

(781)
1,422

(1,928)
302
Leasehold
improvements
Restated*
$000

Office
equipment
Restated*
$000

(2,730)
2,167

Total
Restated*
$000

Cost
Balance at the beginning of the year

18

1,230

2,867

4,115

Payment for purchase of property, plant and equipment

–

277

85

362

Disposals/scrapping

–

–

–

–

Net foreign currency exchange differences

–

13

48

61

18

1,520

3,000

4,538

(18)

(420)

(2,049)

(2,487)

Disposals/scrapping

–

–

–

–

Depreciation expense

–

(245)

(282)

(527)

Net foreign currency exchange differences

–

(13)

(35)

(48)

(678)

(2,366)

(3,062)

Balance at 30 June 2017
Depreciation and impairment losses
Balance at the beginning of the year

Balance at 30 June 2016
Carrying amount – 30 June 2016
*

(18)
–

842

634

1,476

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy

Impairment losses relate to various property, plant and equipment no longer in use. The majority relates to the co-location of various brands within the group,
resulting in assets surplus to requirements.
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13. Taxation
Assets
2016
Restated*
$000

2017
$000

Non-current
Deferred tax assets comprise the following temporary differences:
111

133

1,381

1,268

Provisions – Annual Leave

291

301

Provisions – Long Service Leave

164

177

Provisions – Other

169

734

Business Related Costs

763

441

5,703

54

Provision for doubtful debts
Accruals

Tax Losses
Accrued income
Make good provision
Property, plant and equipment
Intangibles
Other

(102)

(305)

(9)

77

(578)

(203)

(1,621)

–

(22)

(17)

6,249
*

2,660

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy

Movements
Provision
for
doubtful
debts
$000

Accruals
$000

Provisions
– annual
leave
$000

128

1,231

343

191

937

187

325

5

37

(42)

(14)

(203)

254

(271)

At 30 June 2016

133

1,268

301

177

734

441

54

(Charged)/credited to the
income statement

(22)

113

(10)

(13)

(565)

322

5,649

111

1,381

291

164

169

763

5,703

At 30 June 2015
(Charged)/credited to the
income statement

At 30 June 2017
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Provisions
– long
service
Provisions
leave
– other
$000
$000

Business
related
costs
$000

Tax losses
$000

13. Taxation (continued)
Movements (continued)
Accrued
income
$000

Make good
provision
$000

Property,
plant and
equipment Intangibles
$000
$000

Other
$000

Total
$000

At 30 June 2015

(499)

70

(242)

–

(17)

2,654

(Charged)/credited to the
income statement

194

7

39

–

–

6

At 30 June 2016

(305)

77

(203)

–

(17)

2,660

(Charged)/credited to the
income statement

203

(86)

(375)

(1,621)

(5)

3,589

(102)

(9)

(578)

(1,621)

(22)

6,249

At 30 June 2017

Deferred tax assets have been recognised on the basis that there will be future taxable profits against which they can be utilised.
The future taxable profits are based on management estimations that sufficient suitable taxable profit will be made against which
to offset the deductions.

Current tax assets and liabilities
2016
Restated*
$000

2017
$000

Current tax assets
Income tax refundable

*

2

–

2

–

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy

2016
Restated*
$000

2017
$000

Current tax liabilities
Income tax payable

*

–

158

–

158
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14. Trade and other payables		
2017
$000

2016
Restated*
$000

Current
Trade payables
Other creditors and accruals

*

1,443

995

14,589

35,339

16,032

36,334

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy

The average credit period on purchases of certain products is 30 days. No interest is charged on trade payables. The Group has
financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the credit time frame.
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15. Borrowings		
Note

2017
$000

2016
$000

CURRENT
Secured liabilities
Equipment finance loan

156

–

Insurance premium funding loan

376

–

13,371

10,757

13,903

10,757

874

874

874

874

236

–

236

–

1,110

874

Debtor finance facility (net of borrowing costs)

(a)

NON-CURRENT
Unsecured liabilities
Vendor earn-out liability

(b)

Secured liabilities
Equipment finance loan

7
(a) Debtor finance facility (net of borrowing costs)

The facility was established in July 2013 and had an initial limit of $15 million. During the 2016 financial year, the facility was
varied to provide for an increased limit of AUD$19.0 million and NZD$2.0 million (including a facility for bank guarantees). On
22 June 2017, the Principal Deed was varied by a Deed of Variation to amend the minimum period of the facility to now read
“40 months from the 26 June 2017”.
The facility provides funding based on approved receivables and the limit adjusts in line with the value of the approved
receivables. This facility has a 40 month minimum term with no annual review, no financial covenants and no facility amortisation
repayments. Funding provided under this facility is however dependent upon the purchased receivables remaining approved until
they are collected.
At 30 June 2017, this facility attracted interest at a margin of 2.15% over bank reference rates.

(b) Vendor earn-out liability
This comprises cumulative dividend amounts owing to vendors of acquired business, structured through issuance of special class
Series B Redeemable Preference Shares which are redeemable on settlement of dividend payments. The dividends are payable
by the Company in priority to any other dividends in respect of any other shares. The holders do not have rights to any other
dividends or any entitlement to receive notice of, attend or vote at any general meeting of the Company. The movement in the
prior year related to unwinding the present value discount applied to the amount owing. There was no movement during the
current year.

(c) Assets pledged as security in respect of secured liabilities
Existing facilities
The debtor finance facility is secured by general security deed over all present and after acquired property of the parent and
subsidiaries together with cross guarantees over all entities within the group including the parent entity.

(d) Other facilities
These relate to bank guarantees in respect of rental properties. These bank guarantees are fully cash backed by funds drawn
from the debtor finance facility and are secured against any claims, proceedings, losses or liabilities which may arise from
these instruments.
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15. Borrowings (continued)
(e) Financing arrangements
2016
Restated*
$000

2017
$000

Credit standby arrangements
Available
482

816

20,906

20,909

21,388

21,725

482

316

13,371

10,757

13,853

11,073

–

500

7,535

10,152

7,535

10,652

Other facilities (d)
Debtor finance facility (a)

Used at balance date
Other facilities (d)
Debtor finance facility (a)

Unused at balance date
Other facilities (d)
Debtor finance facility (a)

*

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy

16. Provisions
2016
Restated*
$000

2017
$000

1,459

2,416

663

721

2,122

3,137

1,359

1,430

–

178

Straight-lining of rent provision

69

121

Onerous lease provision

31

687

1,459

2,416

Employee benefits

194

214

Make good

215

92

Straight-lining of rent provision

178

325

76

90

663

721

Current
Non-current

Current
Employee benefits
Make good

Non-current

Onerous lease provision

*

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy
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16. Provisions (continued)
(a) Make good provision
The Group is required to restore the leased premises to their original condition at the end of the respective lease terms. A provision
has been recognised for the value of the estimated expenditure required to remove any leasehold improvements. These costs
have been capitalised as part of the cost of leasehold improvements and are amortised over the shorter of the term of the lease
or the useful life of the assets.

(b) Straight-lining of rent provision
The Group has office space leases that are recorded as operating leases. A number of the lease contracts have rent-free periods.
The total of rent payments due under the lease is being recognised on a straight-line basis in profit or loss. Accordingly, there is a
liability recorded for accrued rent equal to the difference between the rent expense charged against income and actual cash
payments required under the terms of the lease.

(c) Onerous lease provision
The provision for onerous lease contract represents the present value of the future lease payments that the Group is presently
obligated to make under a non-cancellable onerous operating lease contract, less revenue expected to be earned on the lease,
including estimated future sub-lease revenue, where applicable. The estimate may vary as a result of changes in the utilisation of
the leased premises and sub-lease arrangements where applicable. The unexpired terms of the lease is 2.3 years.

(d) Movement in provisions
Movement in each class of provision during the financial year, other than employee benefits, is set out below:
Straight-lining of rent
2016
Restated*
$000

2017
$000

Make good provision
2016
Restated*
$000

2017
$000

Carrying amount at
beginning of year

446

628

270

Increase/(decrease)
in provision

(199)

(182)

(55)

247

446

215

Carrying amount at end
of year
*

Onerous lease provision
2016
Restated*
$000

2017
$000

317

777

(47)

(670)

(405)

270

107

777

1,182

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy

17. Share capital
2017
$000

246,147,315 (2016: 246,147,315) fully paid ordinary shares
1,017,201 (2016: 1,017,201) treasury shares

70,880
(738)
70,142

*

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy
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2016
Restated*
$000

70,880
(738)
70,142

17. Share capital (continued)
Ordinary shares
Number of
shares

$000

Balance at 1 July 2016

246,147,315

70,880

Issue of ordinary shares

–

–

246,147,315

70,880

Balance at 30 June 2017

(1,017,201)

Less: Treasury shares

245,130,114

(738)
70,142

Ordinary shares confer on their holders the right to participate in dividends declared by the Board. Ordinary shares confer on their
holders an entitlement to vote at any general meeting of the Company.

18. Reserves
2016
Restated*
$000

2017
$000

29

29

1,095

(1,341)

1,124

(1,312)

Equity-settled employee benefit reserve (a)
Foreign currency translation reserve (b)

*

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy

(a) Equity-settled employee benefit reserve
This reserve is to recognise the value of options recognised to date.

(b) Foreign currency translation reserve
This reserve is to recognise the value of translation differences of foreign entities.
The movement in each reserve during the financial year is set out below:
Equity-settled employee
benefit reserve

Foreign currency
translation reserve

2016
Restated*
$000

2017
$000

2016
Restated*
$000

2017
$000

29

29

Share based payments

–

–

–

–

Currency translation differences arising during the year

–

–

2,436

(979)

29

29

1,095

(1,341)

Balance 1 July

Balance 30 June
*

(1,341)

(362)

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy
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19. Accumulated losses
2016
Restated*
$000

2017
$000

Accumulated losses at the beginning of the period
Net profit/(loss) attributable to members of the parent entity
Balance 30 June
*

(77,770)

(70,027)

15,552

(7,743)

(62,218)

(77,770)

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy

20. Cash flow information
(a) Reconciliation of cash flow from operations to loss after income tax
2016
Restated*
$000

2017
$000

15,716

(7,190)

Amortisation

233

53

Depreciation

433

527

1,188

–

Net profit/(loss) for the year

Impairment losses
Gain on debt forgiven
Gain on bargain purchase
Gain on sale of business

(14,736)

–

(4,441)

–

(741)

–

(549)

(287)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Increase in trade and term receivables
Decrease in other financial assets
(Increase)/decrease in other assets
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables and accruals
(Increase)/decrease in income tax payable
Increase in deferred taxes
Increase in borrowings
Decrease in provisions
Cash (outflow)/inflow from operations
*

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy
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–

418

(27)

236

(3,499)

13,199

(156)

185

(4,971)

(77)

376

–

(1,151)

(781)

(12,325)

6,283

21. Controlled entities
Country of
incorporation

Percentage
owned
2017

Percentage
owned
2016

Australia

–

–

Locher & Associates Pty Limited

Australia

100

100

Locher Holdings Pty Limited

Australia

100

100

ACN 072 437 364 Pty Limited (i)

Australia

100

100

Rubicor Technical Pty Ltd (formerly Cadden Crowe Pty Limited)

Australia

100

100

James Gall & Associates Pty Limited

Australia

100

100

Rubicor Professional Pty Ltd (formerly Apsley SMF Recruitment Pty Limited) (ii)

Australia

100

100

Cadden Crowe (Victoria) Pty Limited

Australia

100

100

Cadden Crowe (Queensland) Pty Limited

Australia

100

100

Skillsearch Contracting Pty Limited

Australia

100

100

Careers Unlimited Pty Limited

Australia

100

100

SMF Recruitment Pty Limited

Australia

100

100

Xpand Group Pty Limited

Australia

100

100

CIT Professionals Pty Limited

Australia

100

100

Rubicor CRS Pty Limited

Australia

100

100

Rubicor Gov Pty Ltd (formerly Gel Gov Group Pty Limited)

Australia

100

100

Dolman Group Pty Limited (iii)

Australia

100

100

Rubicor Workforce Pty Limited (formerly Challenge Recruitment Limited) (iv)

Australia

100

100

Rubicor SW Personnel Pty Limited

Australia

100

100

Rubicor Gemteq Pty Limited

Australia

100

100

Orbis Hospitality Services Pty Limited

Australia

100

100

Ensure Recruitment Pty Limited (v)

Australia

–

50.1

Rubicor (T1) Pty Limited

Australia

100

100

Rubicor Services Pty Limited

Australia

100

100

Ensure Health Pty Limited (v)

Australia

–

50.1

Rubicor New Zealand Limited (vi)

New Zealand

100

100

Wheeler Campbell Consulting Limited (vii)

New Zealand

100

100

Health Recruitment NZ Limited (viii)

New Zealand

100

100

Gaulter Russell NZ Limited

New Zealand

100

100

Numero (NZ) Limited

New Zealand

100

100

Rubicor People (NZ) Limited

New Zealand

100

100

Singapore

100

100

Hong Kong

100

100

United Kingdom

100

100

Name

Parent entity
Rubicor Group Limited
Subsidiaries of parent entity

Rubicor Group Pte Limited (Singapore)
Rubicor Hong Kong Limited
Rubicor UK Limited
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21. Controlled entities (continued)
(i) Formerly known as Gel Group Pty Limited.
(ii) Includes ACN 101254022 Pty Limited and Apsley Recruitment Unit Trust.
(iii) includes subsidiary Dolman F-Lex Pty Limited, and Dolman Pty Limited.
(iv) Includes Choice HR Pty Ltd, Rubicor Workforce (WA) Pty Ltd (previously Challenge Logistics Pty Ltd), Choice HR (Newscastle) Pty Ltd, Choice HR (Maitland)
Pty Ltd, Choice HR (Parramatta) Pty Ltd, Choice HR (Liverpool) Pty Ltd, Choice HR (Penrith) Pty Ltd, Choice HR (Logistics) Pty Ltd, and The Australian Personnel
Consortium Pty Ltd.
(v) On 26 April 2017 Rubicor Group Limited sold its 50.1% interest in the Ensure Recruitment Pty Ltd and Ensure Health Pty Ltd and no longer had control over
the companies. The operating results for the Companies for the period until loss of control have been consolidated in full with the portion attributable to the
non-controlling interest disclosed.
(vi) Includes Rubicor Services (NZ) Limited and Recruit Rubicor NZ Limited.
(vii) Includes Wheeler Campbell Management Leasing Limited and Intersearch NZ Limited.
(viii) Includes Rubicor Care NZ Limited (previously Care Direct Limited) and Health Recruitment International Limited.

22. Parent entity disclosures
(a) Financial position
2016
Restated*
$000

2017
$000

Assets
Current assets

38,766

33,149

Non-current assets

23,147

17,431

Total assets

61,913

50,580

119,774

105,348

1,205

924

Total liabilities

120,979

106,272

Net liabilities

(59,066)

(55,692)

70,142

70,142

85

124

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Equity
Share capital
Reserves
Accumulated losses
Total Equity
*

(129,293)

(125,958)

(59,066)

(55,692)

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy

(b) Financial performance
2016
Restated*
$000

2017
$000

Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive loss
*

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy
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(3,352)
–
(3,352)

(14,312)
–
(14,312)

22. Parent entity disclosures (continued)
(c) Guarantees entered into by the Parent entity in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries
The Parent Entity and Challenge Recruitment Pty Limited (now Rubicor Workforce Pty Limited) were previous parties to a deed of
cross-guarantee under which each Company guarantees the debt of the other. This deed of cross-guarantee ceased during the
year ended 30 June 2016.

(d) Contingent liabilities of the Parent Entity
2016
Restated*
$000

2017
$000

Bank guarantees and deposits in respect of leased premises totalling (refer Note 28):

424

867

(e) Commitments for expenditure for the Parent entity
The Parent had nil committed expenditure as at 30 June 2017 and 30 June 2016.

23. Business combinations
Orange Recruitment Australia Pty Ltd
On 5 October 2016, the Group acquired the trading assets and liabilities of Orange Recruitment Australia Pty Ltd and related
entities (“Orange”). Orange is a skilled labour services provider also specialising in the development of customised maintenance
improvement strategies, and was acquired as the business compliments the existing business operations of the Rubicor Group.
Details of the consideration transferred and assets and liabilities acquired are as follows:
$000

Cash consideration paid

5

Assets and liabilities acquired
Customer relationships

2,200

Deferred tax liabilities

(660)

Employee provisions

(14)
1,526

Gain from bargain purchase

1,521

The gain from bargain purchase is recorded separately in the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. The
transaction resulted in a gain due to the fair value of customer relationships acquired and the economies of scale available to the
Group in servicing these relationships.
From acquisition date to 30 June 2017, the acquired business has contributed revenue of $5.263m and a net loss after tax of
$0.209m. Had the acquisition occurred on 1 July 2016, these contributions would have been $7.423m and $0.186m respectively.
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23. Business combinations (continued)
Western Port Holdings Pty Ltd (in liquidation) t/as Makesafe Traffic Management
On 4 June 2017, the Group acquired the trading assets and liabilities of Western Port Holdings Pty Ltd (in liquidation) t/as Makesafe
Traffic Management. Makesafe Traffic Management is a skilled labour services provider specialising in the development of
complete traffic management solutions, and was acquired as the business compliments the existing business operations of the
Rubicor Group. Details of the consideration transferred and assets and liabilities acquired are as follows:
$000

Cash consideration paid

-

Assets and liabilities acquired
Customer relationships
Deferred tax liabilities

3,406
(1,022)

Trade receivables

246

Property, plant and equipment

509

Other creditors

(97)

Employee provisions

(122)
2,920

Gain from bargain purchase

2,920

The gain from bargain purchase is recorded separately in the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. The
transaction resulted in a gain due to the fair value of customer relationships acquired and the economies of scale available to the
Group in servicing these relationships.
From acquisition date to 30 June 2017, the acquired business has contributed revenue of $0.582m and a net loss after tax of
$0.157m. As the business was purchased, rather than the company, pre-acquisition records were not obtained as part of the
acquisition. As a result, management is unable to determine the contribution the business would have made had the transaction
occurred on 1 July 2016.

24. Commitments for expenditure
The Group had nil committed expenditure as at 30 June 2017 and 30 June 2016.

25. Segment information
Business segments
AASB 8 requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports about components of the Group that
are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order to allocate resources to the segment and to assess
its performance.
The Group’s reporting system produces reports in which business activities are presented in a variety of ways. Based on these
reports, the Executive Board, which is responsible for assessing the performance of various company components and
making resource allocation decisions as Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM), evaluates business activities in a number of
different ways.
The Group’s reportable segments under AASB 8 are as follows:
•

Australia;

•

New Zealand;

•

Other.

The Australian and New Zealand reportable segments supply recruitment services to the Australian and New Zealand
geographical regions respectively.
‘Other’ is the aggregation of the Group’s other operating segments that are not separately reportable. Included in ‘Other’ are
operating segments for the Group’s activities in supplying recruitment services in Singapore, Hong Kong and the United Kingdom.
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25. Segment information (continued)
Segment revenues and results
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and result by reporting operating segment for the reporting period.
Australia

New Zealand

Other

2017
$000

2016
Restated*
$000

(a) Revenue

187,333

196,025

5,028

6,450

7,442

Total segment revenue:

187,333

196,025

5,028

6,450

7,442

*

2016
Restated*
$000

2017
$000

Consolidated entity

2016
Restated*
$000

2017
$000

2017
$000

2016
Restated*
$000

3,741

199,803

206,216

3,741

199,803

206,216

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated from external customers. There were no inter-segment sales in
the current year (2016: nil).
Australia

New Zealand

2016
Restated*
$000

2017
$000

Other

2016
Restated*
$000

2017
$000

Consolidated entity

2016
Restated*
$000

2017
$000

2016
Restated*
$000

2017
$000

(b) Result
Segment results before
depreciation and
amortisation
Depreciation
Segment results after
depreciation and
before amortisation

2,445
(378)

4,095
(431)

488
(43)

1,977

(501)

69

(46)

(12)

(50)

(513)

19

2,432
(433)

(527)

2,067

3,664

445

1,931

Amortisation

–

–

–

–

–

–

Gain on debt forgiven

–

–

–

–

–

–

14,736

–

Gain on bargain purchase

–

–

–

–

–

–

4,441

–

Proceeds from sale of
business

–

–

–

–

–

–

741

–

Central administration costs
and directors’ salaries

–

–

–

–

–

–

(4,103)

(5,729)

Restructuring expense

–

–

–

–

–

–

(2,846)

(3,834)

Transaction and capital
advisory costs

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

(394)

Interest revenue

–

–

–

–

–

–

68

17

Finance costs

–

–

–

–

–

–

(2,856)

(2,458)

–

–

–

(1,188)

–

Impairment of non-current
assets

(1,063)

Profit/(loss) before tax

1,004

–
3,664

(125)
320

1,931

(513)

19

Income tax benefit/
(expense)
Profit/(loss) after tax

1,004

3,664

320

1,931

Non-Current Asset1

7,538

2,359

63

226

1,999

6,141

(233)

5,614
(53)

10,759

(6,837)

4,957

(353)

(513)

19

15,716

(6,484)

33

47

7,634

2,632

*

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy

1

Excluding deferred tax assets

(c) Information about major customers
Included in revenues are revenues of $27.5 million (2016: $29.3 million), which arose from sales to one (2016: one) of the Group’s
customers whose individual revenue exceeds 10% of total revenue in the Australian segment.
RUBICOR ANNUAL REPORT 2017 | 53

Notes to the Financial Statements
26. Related party transactions
Group/Company transactions with related parties outside the Group
There have been no transactions with related parties outside the Group during the financial years ended 30 June 2017 and
30 June 2016, other than key management personnel disclosures in Note 6.

27. Secured liabilities
The debtor finance facility (refer Note 15(a)) is secured by general security deed over all present and after acquired property of the
parent and subsidiaries together with cross guarantees over all entities within the group including the parent entity.

28. Contingent liabilities
The Group had contingent liabilities at 30 June 2017 in respect of bank guarantees for leases (refer to note 30), as set out below:
2017
$000

2016
Restated*
$000

Contingent liabilities
Bank guarantees and deposits in respect of leased premises totalling:

*

1,274

1,358

1,274

1,358

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy

The bank guarantees are fully cash backed by funds drawn from the debtor finance facility (refer to note 15(d)) and are secured
against any claims, proceedings, losses or liabilities which may arise from these instruments.

29.

Financial instruments

(a) Significant accounting policies
Details of the significant accounting policies and methods
adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of
measurement and the basis on which income and expenses
are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset,
financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in Note 1
to the financial statements.

(b) Capital risk management
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balances.
The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which
includes the borrowings disclosed in Note 15, cash and cash
equivalents and equity attributable to equity holders of the
parent, comprising issued capital, reserves, other equity and
retained earnings (accumulated losses) as disclosed in Notes
17, 18 and 19 respectively.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
market risk (including currency risk and interest rate risk), credit
risk, and liquidity risk. The Board reviews and approves policies
for managing each of these risks.

(d) Market risk
The Board has approved written principles on foreign
exchange risk, interest rate risk, and the use of financial
derivatives and non-derivative financial instruments. The
Board oversees how management monitors compliance
with risk management policies and procedures and reviews
the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation
to the risks. The Group does not enter into or trade financial
instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for
speculative purposes.
The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks
of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest
rates. The Group may enter into a variety of derivative financial
instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate and foreign
currency risk, including:
•

foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge the
exchange rate risk arising from transactions not recorded in
an entity’s functional currency; and

•

interest rate swaps to mitigate the risk of rising interest rates.

(c) Financial risk management objectives
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the
establishment and oversight of the Group’s financial
management framework.
The Board oversees how management monitors compliance
with risk management policies and procedures and reviews
the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation
to the risks.
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(e) Foreign currency risk management
The Group from time-to-time undertakes certain transactions
denominated in foreign currencies that are different to the
functional currencies of the respective entities undertaking the
transactions, hence exposures to exchange rate fluctuations
arise. Exchange rate exposures are managed within approved

29. Financial instruments (continued)
policy parameters including, where considered appropriate,
utilising forward foreign exchange contracts. No foreign
exchange contracts were considered necessary to manage
this risk during the year.
The carrying amount of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated assets and liabilities at the reporting date
that are denominated in a currency that is different to the
functional currency of the respective entities within the Group is
nil (2016: nil).

(f)

Interest rate risk management

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk associated with
borrowed funds at floating interest rates. During the financial
year, risks associated with interest rate movements were
monitored by the Board; however, no hedging instruments
were considered necessary to manage the risk. At balance
date the total of the Group’s variable rate secured debtor
finance borrowings was $13,371,000 (2016: $10,757,000). The
equipment and insurance finance facilities carry fixed interest
rates. Further details of these balances have been provided in
the liquidity risk management section of this note.

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on
its contractual obligations, resulting in financial loss to the
Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with
creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral
where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of
financial loss from defaults.
Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers,
spread across diverse industries and geographical areas.
Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the financial
condition of accounts receivable.
The carrying value of trade receivables recorded in the
financial statements, net of any impairment allowances,
represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risks.
The Group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to
any single counterparty or any group of counterparties having
similar characteristics. The credit risk on liquid funds is limited
because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

(h) Liquidity risk management

Interest rate sensitivity
The Group’s only exposure to interest rate risk on financial
assets relates to its cash at bank balance on which average
interest of 0.5% was earned during the reporting period.
(e) The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates at the reporting sate
and the stipulated change taking place at the beginning of
the financial year and held constant throughout the reporting
period. A 100 basis point increase or decrease is used when
reporting interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment of the
possible change in interest rates.

Interest rate
increase/
decrease of:

(g) Credit risk management

+1%
Profit

Profit

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate
reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities
by continuously forecasting and comparing actual cash
flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets
and liabilities. Included in Note 15(e) is a listing of additional
undrawn facilities that the Group has at its disposal to further
reduce liquidity risk.

Liquidity and interest risk tables

-1%

Equity

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with
the CEO and Board of Directors, who have built an appropriate
liquidity risk management framework for the management of
the Group’s short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity
management requirements.

Equity

2017

(0.13)

(0.13)

0.13

0.13

2016

(0.12)

(0.12)

0.12

0.12

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has
been presented based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the
Group may be required to pay. The table includes both interest
and principal cash flows.
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29. Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities

2017

Weighted
average
effective
interest rate
%

Trade and other payables

0-3 months
$000

3 months to
1 year
$000

1-5 years
$000

5+ years
$000

Total
$000

–

6,697

–

–

Equipment Finance Facility

5.33

39

117

236

Insurance Premium Finance
Facility

3.20

125

251

–

–

375

Debtor finance facility

7.82

13,371

–

–

–

13,371

Vendor earnout liability

12.5

–

–

874

–

874

20,232

368

1,110

–

21,710

Total
2016

Trade and other payables

%

Restated*
$000

Restated*
$000

Restated*
$000

–

6,697
393

Restated*
$000

Restated*
$000

–

22,592

–

–

–

22,592

Debtor finance facility

7.64

10,757

–

–

–

10,757

Vendor earnout liability

12.50

–

–

874

–

874

33,349

–

874

–

34,223

Total
*

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value
The carrying amount of the consolidated entity’s identified financial assets and liabilities represents materially their fair value.

30. Operating lease arrangements
Leases as lessee
Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:
2017
$000

2016
Restated*
$000

Leases as lessee
Less than one year

2,142

2,379

Between one and five years

4,896

4,322

Total

7,038

6,701

*

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy

The Group leases a number of offices under operating leases. The leases run over varying periods of up to 5 years, some with
option periods. Some of the leases have fixed rate rental periods, and some have market rate rental adjustments.
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31. Events subsequent to balance date
There have not been any transactions or events of a material
and unusual nature between the end of the reporting period
and the date of this report, in the opinion of the Directors of the
Group, to affect significantly the operations of the Group, the
results of those operations, or state of affairs of the Group in
future periods.

The fair value at grant date is independently determined using
a Monte Carlo option pricing model.
The key model inputs for options granted before
July 2010 include:
(a) Options were granted for no consideration, vest over a five
year period, with 40% vesting after two years, and the rest
vesting in three equal tranches.

32. Share-based payments

(b) The grant dates were 27 May 2008, 28 April 2008,
31 August 2006 and 31 October 2005.

Employee Share Option Plan

(c) Expected dividend yield of 6%.

In the 2006 financial year, Rubicor Group Limited established
the Key Employee Share Option Plan (the Plan). The Plan
was established to retain and motivate eligible persons
whose present and potential contributions are important
to the success of the parent and its controlled entities by
offering them an opportunity to participate in the Group’s
future performance through the awarding of share options.
Eligible persons are full-time or part-time employees of the
consolidated entity or other such persons as approved by the
Board of Directors.

(d) Risk-free interest rate varied between 5.34% and 5.48%.
(e) Expected price volatility of the Company’s shares of 45%,
based on historical experience of similar companies.
The key model inputs for options granted in July 2010 include:
(a) Options granted for no consideration, and vest 3 years
from the grant date.
(b) The grant date was 1 July 2010.

Vesting of the share options awarded takes place over a
five‑year period, with the first of the options vesting after two
years and the rest vesting in tranches thereafter. The options
cannot be exercised until the occurrence of a specified
liquidity event.

(c) The expected dividend yield is 0%.

On exercise, each share option entitles the eligible person
holding that option to one ordinary share in the parent entity,
ranking equally with all other shares. The exercise price of an
option will be determined by the Board of Directors and set out
in the Award Invitation.

The key model inputs for options granted in July 2011 include:

The maximum number of shares to be issued to eligible
persons on exercise of the share options is 5% of the issued
share capital of the parent entity on a diluted basis at the
valuation date.

(c) The expected dividend yield is 0%.

The expiry date of the options is the earlier of:
•

five years following the vesting period for options issued
before July 2011, and 30 June 2017 for options issued
from July 2011;

•

the expiration date set out in the relevant Award Invitation;

•

the date on which any condition relating to the exercise of
the options can no longer be satisfied; or

•

the date that the relevant participant ceased to be
employed or engaged by the consolidated entity.

(d) The risk-free interest rate varied between 5.10% and 5.48%.
(e) The expected price volatility of the Company’s shares is
65%, based on historical experience of similar companies.

(a) Options are granted for no consideration, and will vest 3
years from the grant date.
(b) The grant date was 1 July 2011.

(d) The risk-free interest rate varied between 5.52% and 5.56%.
(e) The expected price volatility of the Company’s shares is
69%, based on historical experience of similar companies.
Nil gain or loss has been recognised as a share-based
payment true up adjustment on a graded vesting pattern
for the year ended 30 June 2017 (2016: nil gain or loss) Nil
options were exercised during the year (2016: 10,379) (refer to
Note 17).
The following table reconciles the outstanding share options
granted under the Employee Share Option Plan at the
beginning and end of the financial year:

RUBICOR ANNUAL REPORT 2017 | 57

Notes to the Financial Statements
32. Share-based payments (continued)
2017
Weighted
average
exercise
price

Number of
options

94,483

Balance at beginning of the financial year
Granted during the year

–

Exercised during the financial year (i)

–

Expired during the financial year

2016

Number of
options

0.19

(61,382)

Weighted
average
exercise
price

176,636

0.21

–

–

–

(10,379)

–

–

(71,774)

–

Balance at end of the financial year (ii)

33,101

0.37

94,483

0.19

Exercisable at end of the financial year

33,101

0.37

94,483

0.19

(i)

Exercised during the financial year

Nil share options granted under the Employee Share Option Plan were exercised during the financial year.

(ii)

Balance at the end of the financial year

The share options outstanding at the end of the financial year had an average exercise price of $0.37 (2016: $0.19), and a
weighted average remaining contractual life of 0.6 years (2016: 1.3 years).

33. Profit/(loss) per share
2016
Restated*
cents

2017
cents

(a) Basic profit/(loss) per share
Loss attributable to the equity holders of the Parent

6.3

(4.7)

6.3

(4.7)

(b) Diluted profit/(loss) per share
Loss attributable to the equity holders of the Parent
*

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy

2017
Number

2016
Number

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominator in calculating
basic earnings per share

246,147,315

164,365,946

Weighted average number of ordinary shares and potential ordinary shares used as the
denominator in calculating diluted earnings per share

246,147,315

164,365,946

(c) Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator

(d) Information concerning the classification of securities
(i)

Options

Options granted to employees under the Plan are considered to be potential ordinary shares and have not been included
in the determination of diluted earnings per share as they would be anti-dilutive. The options have not been included in the
determination of basic earnings per share. Details relating to the options are set out in Note 32.
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34. Dividends
(a) Ordinary shares
2017
Cents per
share

2017
Total
$000

2016
Cents per
share

2016
Total
$000

Ordinary shares
Interim dividend:

–

–

–

–

Franked to 100%
(b) Series B redeemable preference shares
No dividends were paid during the year (2016: nil).

(c) Franking credits		
2017
$000

Franking credits available for subsequent financial years based on a tax rate of 30%
(2016: 30%)
*

10,484

2016
Restated*
$000

10,752

Refer Note 1(e) for details regarding the restatement of comparatives as a result of a change in accounting policy

The balance of the franking credit includes:
(i) franking credits that arose from the payment of the amount of the provision for income tax;
(ii) franking debits that arose from the refund of the amount of the provision for income tax;
(iii) franking debits that arose from the payment of dividends recognised as a liability at the reporting date; and
(iv) franking credits that arose from the receipt of dividends recognised as receivables at the reporting date.

35. Comparative information
Certain items have been reclassified in the comparatives to align with the current year presentation.
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Shareholder Information
As at 15 September 2017

Corporate Governance Statement
The Corporate Governance Statement outlining Rubicor Group Limited’s corporate governance framework
and practices in the form of a report against the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s Corporate Governance
Principles and Recommendations, 3rd Edition, is available on the Rubicor Group Limited website at
http://www.rubicor.com.au/investors, scroll to Corporate Governance tab, in accordance with ASX listing rule 4.10.3. The Directors
approved the 2017 Corporate Governance Statement on 28 September 2017.

Number of security holders and securities on issue
Quoted equity securities
Rubicor has 246,147,315 fully paid ordinary shares on issue which are held by 672 shareholders.

Unquoted equity securities
Rubicor has 46 Series B redeemable preference shares on issue which are held by 12 shareholders.
Rubicor has 33,101 options on issue under the Employee Option Plan and these are held by 3 option holders.

Voting rights
Quoted equity securities
The voting rights attached to fully paid ordinary shares are that on a show of hands, every member present, in person or proxy, has
one vote and upon a poll, each share shall have one vote.

Unquoted equity securities
There are no voting rights attached to Series B redeemable preference shares. Option holders do not have any voting rights on the
options held by them.

Distribution of security holders
Quoted equity securities
Fully paid ordinary shares
Range

1 to 1,000

Securities

No. of
holders

%

%

10,500

0.00

26

3.87

1,001 to 5,000

516,418

0.21

140

20.83

5,001 to 10,000

884,236

0.36

98

14.58

10,001 to 100,000

10,033,763

4.08

262

38.99

100,001 and Over

234,702,398

95.35

146

21.73

246,147,315

100.00

672

100.00

Total

Unmarketable parcel of shares
The number of shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel of fully paid ordinary shares is 274.
11,111 fully paid ordinary shares comprise a marketable parcel at Rubicor’s closing share price of $0.045 on 15 September 2017.
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Substantial shareholders
The number of securities held by substantial shareholders and their associates are set out below:

Fully paid ordinary shares
Number of
Shares

Rank

Name

%IC

Notice Date

1

Cashel Investments Pte Ltd

50,601,724

20.56%

8/03/2016

2

Carthona Capital FS Pty Ltd

33,188,404

13.50%

14/03/2016

3

Hatch Investments Pty Ltd

12,823,794

5.21%

10/03/2016

4

VBS Exchange Pty Limited

12,500,000

5.08%

08/03/2016

Unquoted equity securities
Series B redeemable preference shares
There are 46 Series B redeemable preference shares on issue to 12 shareholders. Mr Michael Crowe holds 11 Series B redeemable
preference shares; a 23.91% interest in the total number of Series B redeemable preference shares on issue.

On-market buy-back/Purchase of Shares/section 611 Corporations Act
There is no current on-market buy-back. There were no shares purchased on market during the under or for the purposes of an
employee incentive scheme or to satisfy the entitlements of the holders of options or other rights to acquire securities granted
under an employee incentive scheme.
There were no securities issued pursuant to Item 7 of section 611 of the Corporations Act during the period and there are no
securities approved for the purposes of Item 7 of section 611 of the Corporations Act which have not yet been completed.

Escrow
There are no securities subject to ASX imposed or voluntary restriction.
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As at 15 September 2017
Twenty largest shareholders
Fully paid ordinary shares
Details of the 20 largest shareholders of quoted securities (grouped) by registered shareholding are:
Number of
Shares

Rank

Name

1

CASHEL INVESTMENTS PTE LTD

51,101,724

20.76

2

CARTHONA CAPITAL FS PTY LTD

33,188,404

13.48

3

VBS EXCHANGE PTY LIMITED

11,310,124

4.59

4

TORRENS CAPITAL PARTNERS PTY LTD

8,750,000

3.55

5

RIA SUPER PTY LTD

8,323,397

3.38

6

J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA LIMITED

7,419,409

3.01

7

HATCH INVESTMENTS PTY LTD

6,000,000

2.44

8

PATHOLD NO 107 PTY LIMITED

5,799,958

2.36

9

DASI INVESTMENTS PTY LTD

5,680,000

2.31

10

MR DAVID GRAHAM HUTCHISON

5,426,788

2.20

11

GALIBIER INVESTMENTS PTY LTD

5,000,000

2.03

12

MS SAMANTHA KAYE STINES

3,750,000

1.52

13

MR JAKIN SMITH

3,602,575

1.46

14

MR MICHAEL SHAUN MCLAGAN & MRS PATRICIA ANN MCLAGAN &
MR SHAUN MCLAGAN

2,775,400

1.13

15

MS NICOLA JANE WILSON & MR DAVID JONATHAN WILSON &
MR CHRISTOPHER ELLIOT RITCHIE

2,645,793

1.07

16

MRJ CAPITAL PTY LIMITED

2,550,000

1.04

17

PETSAL PTY LIMITED

2,509,590

1.02

18

MR CLAYTON ROBERT LYNDON & MRS NADINE CLAIR LYNDON

2,500,000

1.02

19

HATCH SUPER PTY LTD

2,049,000

0.83

20

BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES PTY LTD

2,001,881

0.81

172,384,043

70.03

73,763,272

29.97

246,147,315

100.00

Total
Balance of register
Grand total
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%

Corporate Directory
Directors

Auditors

David Hutchison, Chief Executive Officer & Executive Chairman
Sharad Loomba, Chief Operating Officer & Executive Director

Pitcher Partners
Level 38
345 Queen Street
Brisbane QLD 4000

Non–Executive Director

Banker

Executive Directors

Company Secretaries

National Australia Bank
Level 19, 259 Queen St
Brisbane QLD 4000

Sharad Loomba
Nathan Bartrop

Share Registry

Angus Mason

Level 24, 68 Pitt Street
Sydney NSW 2000
Telephone: +61 2 8061 0000

Computershare Investor Services Pty Ltd
Level 4
60 Carrington Street
Sydney NSW 2000
Telephone – Investor Enquiries: 1300 855 080

Australian Company Number

Website

Registered Office

110 913 365

www.rubicor.com.au

Australian Business Number

Stock Exchange Listing

74 110 913 365

Rubicor Group Limited shares are listed on the Australian
Securities Exchange (ASX), ASX Code: RUB.
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www.fcr.com.au
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